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PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

(To prospectus dated December 5, 2003)
Filed Pursuant to Rule 424(b)(5)
Registration Number 333-110967

Capital Senior Living Corporation
5,000,000 Shares

Common Stock

We are offering 5,000,000 shares of our common stock, par value $0.01 per share. Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol CSU. The last reported sale price of our common stock on January 28, 2004 was $6.63 per share.

Investing in our common stock involves risks and uncertainty. See Risk Factors
beginning on page S-3.

Per Share Total
Public Offering Price $6.00 $30,000,000
Underwriting Discounts and Commissions $0.36 $ 1,800,000
Proceeds to Us, Before Expenses $5.64 $28,200,000

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these
securities or determined if this Prospectus Supplement or the accompanying Prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to
the contrary is a criminal offense.

We have granted the underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 750,000 shares of our common stock to cover
over-allotments, if any, at the public offering price per share, less the underwriting discounts and commissions.

The underwriters are offering the shares of our common stock as described in Underwriting. The underwriters expect to deliver the shares of
our common stock to purchasers on or about February 3, 2004.

Jefferies & Company, Inc. Southwest Securities, Inc.
The date of this Prospectus Supplement is January 28, 2004
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You should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated by reference into this Prospectus Supplement and the
accompanying Prospectus. We have not, and the underwriters have not, authorized any other person to provide you with different
information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. We are not, and the
underwriters are not, making an offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. The information
in this Prospectus Supplement and the accompanying Prospectus is accurate only as of the date it is presented. Our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since those dates.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Prospectus Supplement and the accompanying Prospectus, including the documents incorporated by reference in this Prospectus
Supplement and the accompanying Prospectus, include forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements are identified by words
suchas may, will, expect, anticipate, estimate or continue or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terms. We cat
readers that forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, those relating to our future business prospects, revenues, working capital,
liquidity, capital needs, interest costs and income, are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those indicated in the forward-looking statements, due to several important factors herein identified. These factors include our ability to
find suitable acquisition properties at favorable terms, financing, licensing, business conditions, risks of downturns in economic conditions
generally, satisfaction of closing conditions such as those pertaining to licensure, availability of insurance at commercially reasonable rates, and
changes in accounting principles and interpretations among others, and other risks and factors identified from time to time in our reports filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Factors that could cause actual results or conditions to differ from those anticipated by these and other forward-looking statements include
those more fully described in the Risk Factors section and elsewhere in this Prospectus Supplement and the accompanying Prospectus. We are
not obligated to update or revise these forward-looking statements to reflect new events or circumstances.
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PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT SUMMARY

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere or incorporated by reference in this Prospectus Supplement and the
accompanying Prospectus. This summary does not contain all of the information that you should consider before investing in our common stock.
You should read carefully the entire Prospectus Supplement and accompanying Prospectus, including in each case the documents incorporated
by reference herein or therein, and with particular attention to the section entitled Risk Factors beginning on page S-3 and our consolidated
financial statements and the notes to the consolidated financial statements incorporated by reference herein.

Capital Senior Living Corporation

We are one of the largest operators of senior living communities in the United States in terms of resident capacity. We and our predecessors
have provided senior living services since 1990. As of September 30, 2003, we owned interests in 41 communities in 20 states and managed one
community with an aggregate capacity of approximately 6,900 residents. As of September 30, 2003, we also operated one home care agency.
Approximately 96% of our total revenues from communities that we owned and managed for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, and
approximately 96% of our total revenues from communities that we owned and managed for the year ended December 31, 2002, were
attributable to private pay sources. As of September 30, 2003, the stabilized communities (defined as communities not in lease-up) that we
operated and in which we owned interests had an average occupancy rate of approximately 91%.

Our operating strategy is to provide quality senior living communities and services at an affordable price to our residents, while achieving
and sustaining a strong, competitive position within our chosen markets, as well as to continue to enhance the performance of our operations.
We provide a wide array of senior living services to the elderly at our communities, including independent living, assisted living, skilled nursing
and home care services. Many of our communities offer a continuum of care to meet our residents needs as they change over time. This
continuum of care, which integrates independent living and assisted living and is bridged by home care, sustains residents autonomy and
independence based on their physical and mental abilities.

Corporate Information

We are incorporated in Delaware. Our principal offices are located at 14160 Dallas Parkway, Suite 300, Dallas, Texas 75254. Our telephone
number is (972) 770-5600.

S-1
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The Offering
Common stock offered 5,000,000 shares
Common stock to be outstanding after this offering 24,849,720 shares
Use of proceeds We currently intend to use approximately $13.7 million of the net proceeds from the

sale of our common stock in this offering to retire debt which matures on October 15,
2004 and which has a current interest rate of 9%. We currently intend to use the
remainder of the net proceeds to invest, directly or indirectly, in senior housing
communities, for working capital and for other general corporate purposes. See Use
of Proceeds.

The information above is based on 19,849,720 shares of common stock outstanding as of January 26, 2004 and excludes an aggregate of
1,454,573 shares of common stock reserved for issuance upon exercise of stock options outstanding on January 26, 2004, granted under our
1997 Stock Incentive Plan and an aggregate of 413,054 shares of common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to future option grants under
these plans. At our next annual meeting we will be asking our stockholders to approve an amendment to our 1997 Stock Incentive Plan to
increase the number of shares issuable under the plan from 2,000,000 to 2,500,000.

Unless otherwise indicated, the information in this Prospectus Supplement assumes that the underwriters will not exercise their option to
purchase up to 750,000 additional shares of our common stock.
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves various risks. Before you invest in our common stock, you should be aware that the occurrence
of any of the events described below could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations, cause the
trading price of our common stock to decline and cause you to lose all or part of your investment. You should consider carefully these risk
factors, together with all of the other information included in this Prospectus Supplement, the accompanying Prospectus and the documents we
incorporate by reference herein and therein before you decide to purchase our common stock.

We have significant debt. Our failure to generate cash flow sufficient to cover required interest and principal payments could result in
defaults of the related debt.

As of September 30, 2003, we had mortgage and other indebtedness totaling approximately $240.5 million. As of September 30, 2003, we
had approximately $12.4 million of mortgage and other indebtedness that was payable on or prior to September 30, 2004. We cannot assure you
that we will generate cash flow from operations or receive proceeds from refinancings, other financings or the sales of assets sufficient to cover
required interest, principal and, if applicable, operating lease payments. Our mortgage and other indebtedness is secured by substantially all of
our and our subsidiaries assets. Any payment or other default could cause the applicable lender to foreclose upon the communities securing the
indebtedness or, if applicable, in the case of an operating lease, could terminate the lease, with a consequent loss of income and asset value to us.
Further, because some of our mortgages and debt instruments contain cross-default and cross-collateralization provisions, a payment or other
default by us with respect to one community could affect a significant number of our other communities.

Our failure to comply with financial covenants contained in debt instruments could result in the acceleration of the related debt.

There are various financial covenants and other restrictions in our debt instruments, including provisions which:

require us to meet specified financial tests at the parent company level, which include, but are not limited to, liquidity requirements,
EBITDA requirements, tangible net worth requirements, a current ratio test and net operating income requirements;

require us to meet specified financial tests at the community level, which include, but are not limited to, occupancy requirements, EBITDA
requirements, debt service coverage tests, cash flow tests and net operating income requirements; and

require consent for changes in control of us.

If we fail to comply with any of these requirements, then the related indebtedness could become due and payable prior to its stated maturity
date. We cannot assure you that we could pay this debt if it became due. Further, because some of our mortgages and debt instruments contain
cross-default and cross-collateralization provisions, a default by us with respect to one community could affect a significant number of our other
communities.

We will require additional financing and/or refinancings in the future.

Our ability to meet our long-term capital requirements, including the repayment of certain long-term debt obligations, will depend, in part,
on our ability to obtain additional financing or refinancings on acceptable terms from available financing sources, including through the use of
mortgage financing, joint venture arrangements, by accessing the debt and/or equity markets and possibly through operating leases or other types
of financing, such as lines of credit. There can be no assurance that the financing or refinancings will be available or that, if available, they will
be on terms acceptable to us. Moreover, raising additional funds through the issuance of equity securities could cause existing stockholders to
experience dilution and could adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Our inability to obtain additional financing or

S-3
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refinancings on terms acceptable to us could delay or eliminate some or all of our growth plans, necessitate the sales of assets at unfavorable
prices or both and would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our current floating rate debt, and any future floating rate debt, exposes us to rising interest rates.

We have indebtedness that is currently based on floating interest rates prevailing from time to time. Our future indebtedness and, if
applicable, lease obligations may also be based on floating interest rates prevailing from time to time. Therefore, increases in prevailing interest
rates could increase our interest or lease payment obligations and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to effectively manage our growth.

We intend to expand our operations, directly or indirectly, through the acquisition of new senior living communities, the expansion of some
of our existing senior living communities and through the increase in the number of communities which we manage under management
agreements. The success of our growth strategy will depend, in large part, on our ability to implement these plans and to effectively operate
these communities. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be
affected adversely.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to acquire additional senior living communities or expand existing senior living communities.

The acquisition of additional communities or other businesses involves a number of risks. Communities that are available for acquisition
frequently serve or target different markets than those presently served by us. We may also determine that renovations of acquired communities
and changes in staff and operating management personnel are necessary to successfully integrate those communities or businesses into our
existing operations. The costs incurred to reposition or renovate newly acquired communities may not be recovered by us. In undertaking
acquisitions, we also may be adversely impacted by unforeseen liabilities attributable to the prior operators of those communities or businesses,
against whom we may have little or no recourse. The success of our acquisition strategy will be determined by numerous factors, including our
ability to identify suitable acquisition candidates; the competition for those acquisitions; the purchase price; the requirement to make operational
or structural changes and improvements; the financial performance of the communities or businesses after acquisition; our ability to finance the
acquisitions; and our ability to integrate effectively any acquired communities or businesses into our management, information and operating
systems. We cannot assure you that our acquisition of senior living communities or other businesses will be completed at the rate currently
expected, if at all, or if completed, that any acquired communities or businesses will be successfully integrated into our operations or profitable.

Our ability to successfully expand existing senior living communities will depend on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, our
ability to acquire suitable sites for expansion at reasonable prices; our success in obtaining necessary zoning, licensing, and other required
governmental permits and authorizations; and our ability to control construction costs and accurately project completion schedules. Additionally,
we anticipate that the expansion of existing senior living communities may involve a substantial commitment of capital for a period of time of
two years or more until the expansions are operating and producing revenue, the consequence of which could be an adverse impact on our
liquidity. We cannot assure you that our expansion of existing senior living communities will be completed at the rate currently expected, if at
all, or if completed, that such expansions will be profitable.

Termination of resident agreements could affect adversely our revenues and earnings.

State regulations governing assisted living facilities require written resident agreements with each resident. Most of these regulations also
require that each resident have the right to terminate the resident agreement for any reason on reasonable notice. Consistent with these
regulations, the resident agreements
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signed by us allow residents to terminate their agreements on 30 days notice. Thus, we cannot contract with residents to stay for longer periods
of time, unlike typical apartment leasing arrangements that involve lease agreements with specified leasing periods of up to a year or longer. If a
large number of residents elected to terminate their resident agreements at or around the same time, then our revenues and earnings could be
adversely affected. In addition, the advanced age of our average resident means that the resident turnover rate in our senior living communities
may be difficult to predict.

We largely rely on private pay residents. Circumstances that adversely effect the ability of the elderly to pay for our services could have
a material adverse effect on us.

Approximately 96% of our total revenues from communities that we owned and managed for the nine months ended September 30, 2003,
and approximately 96% of our total revenues from communities that we owned and managed for the year ended December 31, 2002, were
attributable to private pay sources. For the same periods, approximately 4% of our revenues from these communities were attributable to
reimbursements from Medicare and Medicaid. We expect to continue to rely primarily on the ability of residents to pay for our services from
their own or familial financial resources. Inflation or other circumstances that adversely affect the ability of the elderly to pay for our services
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to some particular risks related to third-party management agreements.

We currently manage one senior living community for a third party and 17 senior living communities for joint ventures in which we have a
minority interest pursuant to multi-year management agreements. The management agreements generally have initial terms of between five and
ten years, subject to certain renewal rights. Under these agreements we provide management services to third party and joint venture owners to
operate senior living communities and have provided, and may in the future provide, management and consulting services to third parties on
market and site selection, pre-opening sales and marketing, start-up training and management services for facilities under development and
construction. In most cases, either party to the agreements may terminate them upon the occurrence of an event of default caused by the other
party. In addition, subject to our rights to cure deficiencies, community owners may terminate us as manager if any licenses or certificates
necessary for operation are revoked, or if we have a change of control. Also, in some instances, a community owner may terminate the
management agreement relating to a particular community if we are in default under other management agreements relating to other
communities owned by the same community owner or its affiliates. In addition, in certain cases the community owner may terminate the
agreement upon 30 days notice to us in the event of a sale of the community. In those agreements which are terminable in the event of a sale of
the community, we have certain rights to offer to purchase the community. The termination of a significant portion of our management
agreements could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Performance of our obligations under our joint venture arrangements could have a material adverse effect on us.

We hold minority interests ranging from 1% to 19% in several joint ventures with affiliates of Lehman Brothers and Blackstone Real Estate
Advisors. We also manage the communities owned by these joint ventures. Under the management agreements for the seven communities
owned by Triad Senior Living I, L.P., a joint venture with an affiliate of Lehman Brothers, we are obligated to loan funds to Triad I to cover
operating deficits. Under the joint venture agreements with Blackstone covering four communities, we are obligated to forego distributions if
certain cash flow targets are not met. Also in the Blackstone joint ventures, we are obligated to contribute additional capital if both parties agree
to make additional acquisitions. We are subject to various non-compete provisions under the management agreements with the Blackstone joint
ventures and certain of the Lehman Brothers joint ventures, which may impede our ability to conduct business in desirable areas. We have
existing loans which we have made to Triad I and the other Lehman Brothers joint ventures. Since we hold minority interests in these joint
ventures, we cannot control repayment of these loans. All of the management agreements with the joint ventures contain termination and
renewal provisions.

S-5
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We do not control joint venture decisions covering termination or renewal. Performance of the above obligations or termination or non-renewal
of the management agreements could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The senior living services industry is very competitive and some competitors have substantially greater financial resources than we do.

The senior living services industry is highly competitive, and we expect that all segments of the industry will become increasingly
competitive in the future. We compete with other companies providing independent living, assisted living, skilled nursing, home health care and
other similar services and care alternatives. We also compete with other health care businesses with respect to attracting and retaining nurses,
technicians, aides and other high quality professional and non-professional employees and managers. Although we believe there is a need for
senior living communities in the markets where we are operating communities, we expect that competition will increase from existing
competitors and new market entrants, some of whom may have substantially greater financial resources than us. In addition, some of our
competitors operate on a not-for-profit basis or as charitable organizations and have the ability to finance capital expenditures on a tax-exempt
basis or through the receipt of charitable contributions, neither of which are available to us. Furthermore, if the development of new senior living
communities outpaces the demand for those communities in the markets in which we have senior living communities, those markets may
become saturated. Regulation in the independent and assisted living industry, which represents a substantial portion of our senior living services,
currently is not substantial. Consequently, development of new senior living communities could outpace demand. An oversupply of those
communities in our markets could cause us to experience decreased occupancy, reduced operating margins and lower profitability.

We rely on the services of key executive officers and the loss of these officers or their services could have a material adverse effect on us.

We depend on the services of our executive officers for our management. The loss of some of our executive officers and the inability to
attract and retain qualified management personnel could affect our ability to manage our business and could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

A significant increase in our labor costs could have a material adverse effect on us.

We compete with other providers of senior living services and other health care businesses with respect to attracting and retaining qualified
management personnel responsible for the day-to-day operations of each of our communities and skilled personnel responsible for providing
resident care. A shortage of nurses or trained personnel may require us to enhance our wage and benefits package in order to compete in the
hiring and retention of these personnel or to hire more expensive temporary personnel. We also will be dependent on the available labor pool of
semi-skilled and unskilled employees in each of the markets in which we operate. No assurance can be given that our labor costs will not
increase, or that, if they do increase, they can be matched by corresponding increases in rates charged to residents. Any significant failure by us
to control our labor costs or to pass on any increased labor costs to residents through rate increases could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

There is an inherent risk of liability in the provision of personal and health care services, not all of which may be covered by insurance.

The provision of personal and health care services in the long-term care industry entails an inherent risk of liability. In recent years,
participants in the long-term care industry have become subject to an increasing number of lawsuits alleging negligence or related legal theories,
many of which involve large claims and result in the incurrence of significant defense costs. Moreover, senior living communities offer residents
a greater degree of independence in their daily living. This increased level of independence may subject the resident and, therefore, us to risks
that would be reduced in more institutionalized settings. We currently maintain insurance in amounts we believe are comparable to that
maintained by other senior living companies
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based on the nature of the risks, our historical experience and industry standards, and we believe that this insurance coverage is adequate.
However, we may become subject to claims in excess of our insurance or claims not covered by our insurance, such as claims for punitive
damages, terrorism and natural disasters. A claim against us not covered by, or in excess of, our insurance could have a material adverse effect
upon us.

In addition, our insurance policies must be renewed annually. Based upon poor loss experience, insurers for the long-term care industry
have become increasingly wary of liability exposure. A number of insurance carriers have stopped writing coverage to this market, and those
remaining have increased premiums and deductibles substantially. Therefore, we cannot assure you that that we will be able to obtain liability
insurance in the future or that, if that insurance is available, it will be available on acceptable economic terms.

We are subject to government regulations and compliance, some of which are burdensome and some of which may change to our
detriment in the future.

Federal and state governments regulate various aspects of our business. The development and operation of senior living communities and
the provision of health care services are subject to federal, state and local licensure, certification and inspection laws that regulate, among other
matters, the number of licensed beds, the provision of services, the distribution of pharmaceuticals, billing practices and policies, equipment,
staffing (including professional licensing), operating policies and procedures, fire prevention measures, environmental matters and compliance
with building and safety codes. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations could result in the denial of reimbursement, the imposition of
fines, temporary suspension of admission of new residents, suspension or decertification from the Medicare program, restrictions on the ability
to acquire new communities or expand existing communities and, in extreme cases, the revocation of a community s license or closure of a
community. We believe that regulation of our business will increase in the future, and we are unable to predict the content of new regulations or
their effect on our business, any of which could materially adversely affect us.

Various states, including several of the states in which we currently operate, control the supply of licensed skilled nursing beds, assisted
living communities and home health care agencies through certificate of need (CON) or other programs. In those states, approval is required for
the construction of new health care communities, the addition of licensed beds and some capital expenditures at those communities, as well as
the opening of a home health care agency. To the extent that a CON or other similar approval is required for the acquisition or construction of
new communities, the expansion of the number of licensed beds, services, or existing communities, or the opening of a home health care agency,
we could be adversely affected by our failure or inability to obtain that approval, changes in the standards applicable for that approval, and
possible delays and expenses associated with obtaining that approval. In addition, in most states, the reduction of the number of licensed beds or
the closure of a community requires the approval of the appropriate state regulatory agency and, if we were to seek to reduce the number of
licensed beds at, or to close, a community, we could be adversely affected by a failure to obtain or a delay in obtaining that approval.

Federal and state anti-remuneration laws, such as anti-kickback laws, govern some financial arrangements among health care providers and
others who may be in a position to refer or recommend patients to those providers. These laws prohibit, among other things, some direct and
indirect payments that are intended to induce the referral of patients to, the arranging for services by, or the recommending of a particular
provider of health care items or services. Federal anti-kickback laws have been broadly interpreted to apply to some contractual relationships
between health care providers and sources of patient referral. Similar state laws vary, are sometimes vague, and seldom have been interpreted by
courts or regulatory agencies. Violation of these laws can result in loss of licensure, civil and criminal penalties and exclusion of health care
providers or suppliers from participation in Medicare and Medicaid programs. There can be no assurance that those laws will be interpreted in a
manner consistent with our practices.

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, all places of public accommodation are required to meet federal requirements related to
access and use by disabled persons. A number of additional federal, state and local laws exist that also may require modifications to existing and
planned communities to create access to the properties by disabled persons. Although we believe that our communities are substantially in
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compliance with present requirements or are exempt therefrom, if required changes involve a greater expenditure than anticipated or must be
made on a more accelerated basis than anticipated, additional costs would be incurred by us. Further legislation may impose additional burdens
or restrictions with respect to access by disabled persons, the costs of compliance with which could be substantial.

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, among other things, established standards for the use of and
access to health information. Known as the administrative simplification requirements, these provisions, as implemented by regulations
published by the United States Department of Health and Human Services, established among other things, standards for the security and
privacy of health information. Additionally, the rules provide for the use of uniform standard codes for electronic transactions and require the
use of uniform employer identification codes. Penalties for violations can range from civil fines to criminal sanctions for the most serious
offenses. Compliance with the rules is phased in beginning in October 2002 and extending until April 2005. These rules are complicated, and
there are still a number of unanswered questions with respect to the extent and manner in which the HIPAA rules apply to businesses such as
those operated by us.

We may be subject to liability for environmental damages.

Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of real estate
may be required to investigate and clean up hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum product releases at the property and may be held liable to
a governmental entity or to third parties for property damage and for investigation and clean up costs incurred by those parties in connection
with the contamination. These laws typically impose clean-up responsibility and liability without regard to whether the owner knew of or caused
the presence of the contaminants, and liability under these laws has been interpreted to be joint and several unless the harm is divisible and there
is a reasonable basis for allocation of responsibility. The costs of investigation, remediation or removal of the substances may be substantial, and
the presence of the substances, or the failure to properly remediate the property, may adversely affect the owner s ability to sell or lease the
property or to borrow using the property as collateral. In addition, some environmental laws create a lien on the contaminated site in favor of the
government for damages and costs it incurs in connection with the contamination. Persons who arrange for the disposal or treatment of
hazardous or toxic substances also may be liable for the costs of removal or remediation of the substances at the disposal or treatment facility,
whether or not the facility is owned or operated by the person. Finally, the owner of a site may be subject to common law claims by third parties
based on damages and costs resulting from environmental contamination emanating from a site. If we become subject to any of these claims, the
costs involved could be significant and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

A significant portion of our stock is held by a relatively small number of stockholders.

Our officers and directors and entities controlled by them collectively beneficially own approximately 30.1% of our outstanding shares of
common stock. In addition, one of our founders, who was previously an officer and a director, beneficially owns approximately 24.4% of our
outstanding shares of common stock. Accordingly, while there is no agreement among these people to do so, they would have the ability, by
voting their shares in concert, to control the election of our board of directors and the outcome of all other matters submitted to our stockholders.
Furthermore, that influence could deter any unsolicited acquisition of us, and, consequently, adversely affect the market price of our common
stock.

Sales of substantial numbers of shares of our common stock by existing holders, or the perception that such sales could occur, could
cause the price of our common stock to decline.

Our officers, directors, entities controlled by them and one of our founders who was previously an officer and a director, beneficially own a
significant portion of our common stock. Sales of substantial numbers of shares of our common stock by any of them or other holders of our
common stock, or the perception that such sales could occur, could cause the price of our common stock to decline. A significant portion of our
common stock is not subject to agreements restricting its sale.
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The price of our common stock has fluctuated, and a number of factors may cause our common stock price to decline.

The market price of our common stock has fluctuated and could fluctuate significantly in the future in response to various factors and
events, including, but not limited to, the risks set out in this Prospectus Supplement, as well as:

the liquidity of the market of our common stock;
variations in our operating results;
variations from analysts expectations; and

general economic trends and conditions.

In addition, the stock market in recent years has experienced broad price and volume fluctuations that often have been unrelated to the
operating performance of particular companies. These market fluctuations also may cause the market price of our common stock to decline.
Investors may be unable to resell their shares of our common stock at or above the offering price. In the past, companies that have experienced
volatility in the market price of their stock have been the object of securities class action litigation. Securities class action litigation could result
in substantial costs and a diversion of management s attention and resources.

The effect of certain anti-takeover provisions may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or discourage third party from
attempting to acquire, control of us.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our bylaws, as well as Delaware corporate law, contain provisions that could have
the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or discouraging a third party from attempting to acquire, control of us. These
provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock. Some of these provisions
allow us to issue, without stockholder approval, preferred stock having rights senior to those of our common stock. Other provisions impose
various procedural and other requirements, including, advance notice and super-majority voting provisions, that could make it more difficult for
stockholders to effect certain corporate actions. In addition, our board of directors is divided into three classes, each of which serves for a
staggered three-year term, which may make it more difficult for a third party to gain control of the board of directors. As a Delaware
corporation, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law which, in general, prevents an interested stockholder
(defined generally as a person owning 15% or more of a corporation s outstanding voting stock) from engaging in a business combination (as
defined) for three years following the date that person became an interested stockholder unless certain conditions are satisfied. Finally, we have
adopted a shareholder rights plan, which may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us or discourage a third party from
attempting to do so.

Our management will have broad discretion with respect to the use of the proceeds of this offering.

Our management will have broad discretion as to how to use the proceeds of this offering. You will be relying on the judgment of our
management regarding the application of the proceeds of this offering. The results and effectiveness of the use of the proceeds are uncertain.

S-9
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We will receive approximately $27.9 million in net proceeds from the sale of our shares of common stock in this offering (or approximately
$32.1 million if the underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full), in each case after deducting the underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

We currently intend to use approximately $13.7 million of the net proceeds from the sale of our common stock in this offering to retire debt
which matures on October 15, 2004 and which has a current interest rate of 9%. We intend to use the remainder to invest, directly or indirectly,
in senior housing communities, for working capital and for other general corporate purposes. Although we have no current plans, agreements or
commitments with respect to any acquisition, we may, in the future, use an unspecified portion of the net proceeds to acquire or invest in
properties, joint ventures or companies. The timing and amount of any actual expenditures will be based on many factors, including cash flows
from operating, investing and financing activities and the growth of our business. Until we use the net proceeds of this offering for the above
purposes, we may invest the funds in short-term, investment grade, interest-bearing securities. We cannot predict whether the proceeds invested
will yield a favorable return.

S-10
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our actual capitalization at September 30, 2003 and as adjusted to give effect to the issuance of

5,000,000 shares of our common stock offered hereby and the application of the estimated net proceeds of the offering. See Use of Proceeds.
The capitalization information set forth in the table below is qualified by the more detailed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto

incorporated by reference into this Prospectus Supplement.

As of September 30, 2003

Actual

As Adjusted

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and marketable securities

Total cash

Debt:
Current portion of notes payable
Notes payable, net of current portion

Total debt
Shareholders equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share; 15,000,000 shares
authorized, none issued
Common stock, $0.01 par value per share; 65,000,000 shares
authorized, 19,806,025 (actual) and 24,806,025 (as adjusted)
shares issued
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings

Total shareholders equity

Total capitalization

COMMON STOCK DIVIDENDS

The holders of our common stock are entitled to dividends in such amounts and at such times, if any, as may be declared by our board of

(dollars in thousands)

$ 8741
12,356

$ 21,097

$ 12,426
228,115

240,541

198
92,205
30,706

123,109

$363,650

$ 22,975
12,356

$ 35,331

$ 9,126
217,715

226,841

248
120,089
30,706

151,043

$377,884

directors out of legally available funds. We have not paid any dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends

on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
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PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CSU. The following table summarizes the high and low

intra-day sales prices for our common stock for the periods indicated through January 28, 2004:

2004:
First Quarter (through January 28, 2004)

2003:
Fourth Quarter
Third Quarter
Second Quarter
First Quarter

2002:
Fourth Quarter
Third Quarter
Second Quarter
First Quarter

On January 28, 2004 the last reported sale price of our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $6.63 per share. As of

January 26, 2004, there were approximately 57 stockholders of record of our common stock.

S-12

High Low
$7.28 $5.78
$6.40 $3.95
$4.95 $3.03
$3.38 $2.86
$2.99 $2.54
$2.70 $2.03
$3.30 $2.25
$3.80 $3.00
$4.25 $2.60
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UNDERWRITING

Subject to the terms and conditions stated in the underwriting agreement between us and the underwriters, each of the underwriters named
below has severally agreed to purchase, and we have agreed to sell to each named underwriter, the number of shares set forth opposite the name
of each underwriter.

Underwriter Number of Shares
Jefferies & Company, Inc. 3,750,000
Southwest Securities, Inc. 1,250,000
Total 5,000,000

The underwriting agreement provides that the obligation of the several underwriters to purchase the shares offered by us are subject to some
conditions. The underwriters are obligated to purchase all of the shares offered by us, other than those covered by the over-allotment option
described below, if any of the shares are purchased. The underwriting agreement also provides that, in the event of a default by an underwriter,
in some circumstances the purchase commitments of non-defaulting underwriters may be increased or the underwriting agreement may be
terminated.

The underwriters have not and will not use a selling group to sell the shares of our common stock offered hereby. We cannot assure you that
the prices at which the common stock shares will sell in the public market after this offering will not be lower than the price at which they are
sold by the underwriters or that an active trading market in the shares will develop and continue after this offering.

We have granted to the underwriters an option, exercisable not later than 30 days after the date of this Prospectus Supplement, to purchase,
from time to time, in whole or in part, up to an aggregate of 750,000 additional shares at the public offering price less the underwriting discounts
and commissions set forth on the cover of this Prospectus Supplement.

The underwriters may exercise that option only to cover over-allotments, if any, made in connection with the sale of the shares of common
stock offered by us. To the extent that option is exercised, each underwriter will be obligated, subject to some conditions, to purchase a number
of additional shares approximately proportionate to that underwriter s initial purchase commitment as indicated in the table above.

The following table shows the per share and total underwriting discounts and commissions to be paid to the underwriters by us. Such
amounts are shown assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters option to purchase 750,000 additional shares.

Total
Per No Exercise Full Exercise
Share of Option of Option
Public offering price $6.00 $30,000,000 $34,500,000
Underwriting discounts and commissions to be paid by us $0.36 $ 1,800,000 $ 2,070,000
Proceeds to us before expenses $5.64 $28,200,000 $32.,430,000

We estimate that the total expenses of this offering, excluding the underwriting discounts and commissions, will be approximately
$0.3 million, which will be paid by us.

This offering of our common stock is made for delivery when, as and if accepted by the underwriters and subject to prior sale and to
withdrawal, cancellation or modification of this offering without notice. The underwriters reserve the right to reject an order for the purchase of
shares of our common stock in whole or in part.
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payments the underwriters may be required to make in respect of these liabilities.
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We and our executive officers and directors and certain entities controlled by them have agreed not to offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge or
otherwise dispose of (or enter into any transaction or device which is designed to, or could be expected to, result in the disposition by any person
at any time in the future of) any shares of our common stock or exercisable or exchangeable for our common stock, publicly disclose an
intention to make any such offer, sale, contract to sell, pledge or disposition, or enter into any swap or other derivatives transaction that transfers
to another, in whole or in part, any of the economic benefits or risks of ownership of such shares of common stock, whether any such transaction
described above is to be settled by delivery of common stock, or other securities, in cash or otherwise, without the prior written consent of
Jefferies & Company, Inc. for a period of 90 days after the date of this Prospectus Supplement, other than:

gifts to any person or entity who agrees to be similarly bound; or

any such disposition made pursuant to any written trading plan adopted pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act and
existing on the date hereof.

However, one of our stockholders who is a former officer and director and no longer an affiliate of ours, beneficially owns approximately
24.4% of our outstanding shares of common stock and has not signed an agreement restricting his ability to sell those shares.

We and our executive officers and directors and certain entities controlled by them have also agreed not to file or participate in the filing
with the Securities and Exchange Commission of any registration statement, circulate or participate in the circulation of any prospectus or other
disclosure document with respect to any proposed offering or sale of our common stock or exercise any rights they may have to require
registration with the Securities and Exchange Commission of any proposed offering or sale of our common stock, without the prior written
consent of the underwriters for a period of 90 days after the date of this Prospectus Supplement.

Upon the expiration of this 90-day lock-up period, substantially all of these shares will become eligible for sale, subject to the restrictions of
Rule 144. These restrictions will not affect our ability to:

issue, sell or award shares of our common stock or securities convertible into, exercisable or exchangeable for, shares of our common
stock pursuant to our 1997 Stock Incentive Plan;

issue shares of our common stock or other securities pursuant to the exercise of stock options currently outstanding; or

issue shares of our common stock or securities convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, shares of our common stock in
connection with any acquisition transaction, as long as the terms of any such acquisition contractually prohibit the resale or other
disposition of such securities through and including the date 90 days after the date of this Prospectus Supplement.

We have been advised by the representatives of the underwriters that, in accordance with Regulation M under the Securities Act, some
persons participating in this offering may engage in transactions, including syndicate covering transactions, stabilizing bids or the imposition of
penalty bids, that may have the effect of stabilizing or maintaining the market price of the shares at a level above that which might otherwise
prevail in the open market.

A syndicate covering transaction is a bid for or the purchase of shares on behalf of the underwriters to reduce a syndicate short position

incurred by the underwriters in connection with this offering. The underwriters may create a syndicate short position by making short sales of
our shares and may purchase our shares in the open market to cover syndicate short positions created by short sales. Short sales involve the sale
by the underwriters of a greater number of shares than they are required to purchase in this offering. Short sales can be either covered or naked.

Covered short sales are sales made in an amount not greater than the underwriters over-allotment option to purchase additional shares from us in
this offering. Naked short sales are sales in excess of the over-allotment option. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the
underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the shares in the open market after pricing that could adversely
affect investors who purchase in this offering. If the underwriters create a syndicate short position, they may choose to reduce or cover this
position by either exercising all or
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part of the over-allotment option to purchase additional shares from us or by engaging in syndicate covering transactions. The underwriters may
close out any covered short position by either exercising their over-allotment option or purchasing shares in the open market. The underwriters
must close out any naked short position by purchasing shares in the open market. In determining the source of shares to close out the covered
short position, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of shares available for purchase in the open market as compared to

the price at which they may purchase shares through the over-allotment option.

A stabilizing bid is a bid for or the purchase of shares on behalf of the underwriters for the purpose of fixing or maintaining the price of our
common stock. A penalty bid is an arrangement that permits the representatives of the underwriters to reclaim the selling concession from an
underwriter or a syndicate member when shares sold by such underwriter or syndicate members are purchased by the representatives in a
syndicate covering transaction and, therefore, have not been effectively placed by the underwriter or syndicate member.

We have been advised by the representatives of the underwriters that these transactions may be effected on the New York Stock Exchange
or otherwise and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time. Similar to other purchase activities, these activities may have the effect of
raising or maintaining the market price of our common stock or preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of our common stock. As a
result, the price of our common stock may be higher than the price that might otherwise exist in the open market.

Jefferies & Company, Inc. has in the past provided and in the future may provide investment banking and other financial advisory services
to us, for which we have paid and expect to pay customary fees and expenses.

LEGAL MATTERS

Jenkens & Gilchrist, P.C., Dallas, Texas, will pass on certain legal matters for us in connection with this offering. Morrison & Foerster LLP,
New York, New York, will pass on certain legal matters for the underwriters in connection with this offering.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of Capital Senior Living Corporation contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, as set forth in their report
thereon included in such Annual Report and incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements are incorporated by
reference in reliance upon Ernst & Young LLP s report given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

The financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 of Triad Senior Living II, LP, Triad Senior Living III, LP, Triad
Senior Living IV, LP and Triad Senior Living V, LP, contained in our Current Report on Form 8-K/ A, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on October 10, 2003, have been audited by Lane Gorman Trubitt, L.L.P., independent auditors, as set forth in their reports thereon
included in such Form 8-K/ A and incorporated herein by reference. Such financial statements are incorporated by reference in reliance upon
Lane Gorman Trubitt, L.L.P. s report given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or
SEC. You may read and copy any document we file at the SEC s public reference room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C., 20549, and
at the SEC s Public Reference Rooms in Chicago, Illinois and New York, New York. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further
information concerning the Public Reference Rooms. Our SEC filings are also available to the public on the SEC s Website at
http://www.sec.gov. Our reports, proxy statements and other information also may be read and copied at the offices of the New York Stock
Exchange, Inc., located at 11 Wall Street, New York, NY 10005.

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-3 under the Securities Act with respect to the common stock offered in
connection with this Prospectus Supplement and the accompanying Prospectus. This Prospectus Supplement and the accompanying Prospectus
do not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement. We have omitted certain parts of the registration statement in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further information with respect to us and our common stock, you should refer to the
registration statement. Statements contained in this Prospectus Supplement and the accompanying Prospectus as to the contents of any contract
or document are not necessarily complete and, in each instance, you should refer to the copy of such contract or document filed as an exhibit to
or incorporated by reference in the registration statement. Each statement as to the contents of each contract or document is qualified in all
respects by reference to the contract or document. You may obtain copies of the registration statement from the SEC s principal office in
Washington, D.C. upon payment of the fees prescribed by the SEC, or you may examine the registration statement without charge at the offices
of the SEC described above.

The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important information
to you by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this Prospectus Supplement
and the accompanying Prospectus, and information that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede this information. We
incorporate by reference the documents listed below and any future filings we will make with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (other than current reports furnished on Form 8-K under Items 9 and 12):

(1) our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002;

(2) our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2003;

(3) our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2003;

(4) our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2003;

(5) the description of our common stock set forth in our registration statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on October 3, 1997, and
any subsequent amendments or reports filed for the purpose of updating this description;

(6) the description of rights to purchase our Series A junior participating preferred stock set forth in our registration statement on
Form 8-A filed with the SEC on March 17, 2000, and any subsequent amendments or reports filed for the purpose of updating this
description;

(7) the following reports on Form 8-K:

(a) Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 6, 2003%*;

(b) Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 30, 2003%*;

(c) Form 8-K/ A filed with the SEC on October 10, 2003;
(d) Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 5, 2003%;

(e) Form 8-K/ A filed with the SEC on December 5, 2003;
S-16
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(f) Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 24, 2003%*;
(g) Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 14, 2004*;
(h) Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 28, 2004; and

(8) The sections entitled Election of Directors, = Executive Compensation,  Principal Stockholders and Stock Ownership Management and
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions contained in our Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A for our 2003 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

* Portions of these reports were furnished to the SEC under Item 9, Regulation FD Disclosure, and Item 12, Results of Operations and
Financial Condition. Pursuant to General Instruction B(2) and (6) of Form 8-K, the portions of these reports submitted under Items 9 and 12
are not deemed to be filed for the purpose of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act, and we are not subject to the liabilities of that
section. We are not incorporating by reference those portions of these reports that are not deemed to be filed for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act, and we will not incorporate by reference those portions of future filings of reports on Form 8-K into a filing under
the Securities Act or the Securities Exchange Act, or into this Prospectus Supplement or the accompanying Prospectus that are not deemed to
be filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act.

The reports and other documents that we file after the date of this Prospectus Supplement and the accompanying Prospectus and prior to the
termination of this offering shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Prospectus Supplement and the accompanying Prospectus
and will update, supplement and supersede the information in this Prospectus Supplement and the accompanying Prospectus. You may request a
copy of these filings, at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at the following address:

Capital Senior Living Corporation

14160 Dallas Parkway, Suite 300
Dallas, Texas 75254
(972) 770-5600
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PROSPECTUS

Capital Senior Living Corporation
$50,000,000

Common Stock

We may offer, issue and sell, from time to time, in amounts, at prices and on terms that we will determine at the time of offering, up to
$50,000,000 in the aggregate of common stock. We will provide you with the specific terms of an offering of common stock in a supplement to
this Prospectus, which we refer to as a Prospectus Supplement. The Prospectus Supplement will set forth the terms of the offering and sale of our
common stock. We will deliver the Prospectus Supplement with this Prospectus. For information about the general terms of our common stock,
see Description of the Common Stock We May Offer.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol CSU. On December 4, 2003, the last reported sale price of
our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange was $6.23 per share.

Our common stock may be sold directly by us, through agents designated from time to time or to or through underwriters or dealers. See
Plan of Distribution beginning on page 7. If any such agents or underwriters are involved in the sale of any common stock, the names of the
agents and underwriters and any applicable fees, commissions or discounts will be set forth in the applicable Prospectus Supplement. Each
applicable Prospectus Supplement will provide the terms of the plan of distribution relating to the common stock covered by that Prospectus
Supplement.

You should read this Prospectus and any Prospectus Supplement carefully before you invest. Investing in our securities involves
many risks. Please see Risk Factors beginning on page 2.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these
securities or determined if this Prospectus is accurate or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this Prospectus is December 5, 2003
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(7,524 )
Gain on investments,
net

Non-operating

income, net

Income (loss) before
income taxes

21

146
(11,887)
Income tax expense

(benefit)
Net income (loss)

(4,892 )
(6,995 )

Other comprehensive
income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss)
on interest rate hedge,
net of tax
Comprehensive
income (loss)

(3,238 )
$(10,233)

Earnings (loss) per
share:

Basic

Diluted

$(0.14 )
$(0.14 )

Weighted average
shares outstanding,
basic 48,830
Weighted average

shares outstanding,

diluted 48,830

(3,855)

98 109 200

442 614 874

17,350 8,362 34,495

6,876
10,474

1,477
6,885

13,735
20,760

326 (4,285) (5881 )

$10,800 $2,600 $20,179

$0.22
$0.21

$0.14
$0.14

$0.43
$0.42

48,380 48,696 48,343

49,004 49,415 48,927

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SHENANDOAH TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Balance, December 31, 2014

Net income

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Dividends declared ($0.24 per share)

Dividends reinvested in common stock

Stock based compensation

Common stock issued through exercise of incentive
stock options

Common stock issued for share awards

Common stock issued

Common stock repurchased

Net excess tax benefit from stock options exercised

Balance, December 31, 2015

Net income

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Stock based compensation

Stock options exercised

Common stock issued for share awards
Common stock issued

Common stock issued to acquire non-controlling
interests of nTelos

Common stock repurchased

Balance, June 30, 2016

Common Retained

Shares  Stock Earnings

48,265 $29,712 $227,512

- - 40,864

- - (11,629)

22 544 -

- 2,719 -

87 996 -

212 - -

1 11 -

(111 ) (1,885 ) -

- 679 -

48,475 $32,776  $256,747

- - 6,885

- 2,404 -

319 2,942 -

188 - -

1 5 -

76 10,400 -

177 ) 4,183 ) -
48,883 $44,344 $263,633

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive

Income
(Loss),
net of tax
$ 1,122

(707 )

$ 415

(4,285 )

Total
$258,346

40,864
707 )
(11,629 )
544
2,719

996

11
(1,885 )
679

$289,938

6,885
(4,285 )
2,404
2,942

5

10,400
(4,183 )

$ (3,870 ) $304,107

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SHENANDOAH TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Six Months Ended

June 30,

2016 2015
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income $6,885 $20,760
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 42,753 33,189
Amortization reflected as operating expense 7,401 812
Amortization reflected as contra revenue 3,290 -
Provision for bad debt 752 905
Straight line adjustment to reduce management fee revenue 3,406 -
Stock based compensation expense 1,957 1,430
Excess tax benefits on stock awards - 450 )
Deferred income taxes (53,238 ) (3,656 )
Net loss on disposal of equipment 12 227
Unrealized (gain) on investments (83 ) (54 )
Net gains from patronage and equity investments 315 ) (385 )
Amortization of long term debt issuance costs 1,205 289
Other 2,120 647
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in:
Accounts receivable 4,332 ) (@339 )
Inventory, net (11,424 ) (414 )
Income taxes receivable 7,694 14,752
Other assets 2,066 (3,421 )
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable 5,529 2,911 )
Income taxes payable 34,195 499
Deferred lease payable 1,228 506
Other deferrals and accruals 9,692 2,116 )
Net cash provided by operating activities $60,793 $60,270
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment $(60,123 ) $(25,135)
Proceeds from sale of equipment 185 52
Cash distributions from investments 53 3
Cash disbursed for acquisition, net of cash acquired (654,832) -
Net cash used in investing activities $(714,717) $(25,080)

(Continued)
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SHENANDOAH TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Principal payments on long-term debt

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016 2015

$(201,257) $(11,500)

Amounts borrowed under debt agreements 835,000 -

Cash paid for debt issuance costs (14,825 ) -

Excess tax benefits on stock awards - 450
Repurchases of common stock (4,183 ) (1,450 )
Proceeds from issuances of common stock 2,948 530

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities $617,683 $(11,970)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  $(36,241 ) $23,220
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning 76,812 68,917
Ending $40,571  $92,137
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash payments for:
Interest $6,659 $3,782
Income taxes paid, net of refunds received $12,796  $2,139
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
At June 30, 2016 and 2015, accounts payable included approximately $5.2 million and $1.2 million, respectively,
associated with capital expenditures. Cash flows for accounts payable and acquisition of property, plant and

equipment exclude this activity.

In conjunction with the acquisition of nTelos, the Company issued common stock to acquire non-controlling interests
held by third parties in a subsidiary of nTelos. The transaction was valued at $10.4 million.

The Company reclassified $4.3 million of unamortized loan fees and costs included in deferred charges and other
assets to long term debt in connection with the new Term loan A-1 and A-2 borrowing related to the acquisition of

nTelos.

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SHENANDOAH TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.Basis of Presentation

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements of Shenandoah Telecommunications Company and
Subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) are unaudited. In the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary for
a fair presentation of the interim results have been reflected therein. All such adjustments were of a normal and
recurring nature. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statements and related notes in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015.
The accompanying balance sheet information at December 31, 2015 was derived from the audited December 31, 2015
consolidated balance sheet. Operating revenues and income from operations for any interim period are not necessarily
indicative of results that may be expected for the entire year.

In connection with the nTelos acquisition and exchange transaction with Sprint (see Note 2), the Company has added
the following significant accounting policies:

Revenue Recognition

Under the Company’s amended affiliate agreement, Sprint agreed to waive the management fee, which is historically
presented as a contra-revenue by the Company, for a period of approximately six years. The impact of Sprint’s waiver
of the management fee over the approximate six-year period is reflected as an increase in revenue, offset by the
non-cash adjustment to recognize this impact on a straight-line basis over the contract term of approximately 14 years.

Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment on at least an annual basis. Impairment testing is required more
often than annually if an event or circumstance indicates that impairment is more likely than not to have occurred. In
conducting its annual impairment testing, the Company may first perform a qualitative assessment of whether it is
more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount. If not, no further goodwill
impairment testing is required. If it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying
amount, or if the Company elects not to perform a qualitative assessment of a reporting unit, the Company then
compares the fair value of the reporting unit to the related net book value. If the net book value of a reporting unit
exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is measured and recognized. The Company conducts its annual impairment
testing of goodwill as of October 1.

Pension Benefits and Retirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

Through the Company’s acquisition of nTelos, the Company assumed nTelos’ non-contributory defined benefit pension
plan (“Pension Plan”) covering all employees who met eligibility requirements and were employed by nTelos prior to
October 1, 2003. The Pension Plan was closed to nTelos employees hired on or after October 1, 2003. Pension
benefits vest after five years of plan service and are based on years of service and an average of the five highest
consecutive years of compensation subject to certain reductions if the employee retires before reaching age 65 and
elects to receive the benefit prior to age 65. Effective December 31, 2012, nTelos froze future benefit accruals. The
Company uses updated mortality tables published by the Society of Actuaries that predict increasing life expectancies
in the United States.

IRC Sections 412 and 430 and Sections 302 and 303 of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as
amended establish minimum funding requirements for defined benefit pension plans. The minimum required
contribution is generally equal to the target normal cost plus the shortfall amortization installments for the current plan
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year and each of the six preceding plan years less any calculated credit balance. If plan assets (less calculated credits)
are equal to or exceed the funding target, the minimum required contribution is the target normal cost reduced by the
excess funding, but not below zero. The Company’s policy is to make contributions to stay at or above the threshold
required in order to prevent benefit restrictions and related additional notice requirements and is intended to provide
not only for benefits based on service to date, but also for those expected to be earned in the future. The Company also
assumed two qualified nonpension postretirement benefit plans that provide certain health care and life benefits for
nTelos retired employees that meet eligibility requirements. The health care plan is contributory, with participants’
contributions adjusted annually. The life insurance plan also is contributory. These obligations, along with all of the
pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans, are obligations assumed by the Company. Eligibility for the life
insurance plan is restricted to active pension participants age 50-64 as of January 5, 1994. Neither plan is eligible to
employees hired after April 1993. The accounting for the plans anticipates that the Company will maintain a
consistent level of cost sharing for the benefits with the retirees. The Company’s share of the projected costs of
benefits that will be paid after retirement is generally being accrued by charges to expense over the eligible employees’
service periods to the dates they are fully eligible for benefits.

The Company records annual amounts relating to the Pension Plan and postretirement benefit plans based on
calculations that incorporate various actuarial and other assumptions, including discount rates, mortality, assumed
rates of return, turnover rates and healthcare cost trend rates. The Company reviews its assumptions on an annual

basis and makes modifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trends when it is appropriate to do so.
The effect of modifications to those assumptions is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and
amortized to net periodic cost over future periods using the corridor method.

9
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2. Acquisition of NTELOS Holdings Corp. and Exchange with Sprint

On May 6, 2016, the Company completed its previously announced acquisition of NTELOS Holdings Corp. (“nTelos”)
for $663.7 million in cash, net of cash acquired. The purchase price was financed by a credit facility arranged by
CoBank, ACB (see Note 14). The Company has included the operations of nTelos for financial reporting purposes for
the period subsequent to the acquisition. The Company has accounted for the acquisition of nTelos under the
acquisition method of accounting, in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”’) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, “Business Combinations”, and will account for any measurement period adjustments
under Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-16, “Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement Period
Adjustments”. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total purchase price is allocated to the tangible and
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition based on their estimated fair
values.

The preliminary allocation of the purchase price was based upon management’s preliminary valuation of the fair value
of tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed of nTelos, with the excess recorded as goodwill. (in

thousands):
Accounts receivable $48.476
Inventory 3,810
Restricted cash 2,167
Investments 1,501
Prepaids expenses and other assets 14,835
Building held for sale 4,950
Property, plant and equipment 223,900
Spectrum licenses 198,200
Customer based contract rights 198,200
Contract based intangible assets 11,000
Goodwill 151,627
Other long term assets 10,288
Total assets acquired $868,954
Accounts payable $8,648
Advanced billings and customer deposits 12,477
Accrued expenses 25,230
Capital lease liability 418
Deferred tax liabilities 124,964
Retirement benefits 19,461
Other long-term liabilities 14,056
Total liabilities assumed 205,254
Net assets acquired $663,700

Finalization of the purchase price allocations is dependent on final review and acceptance of the independent
appraiser’s valuation report.

Immediately after acquiring nTelos, Shenandoah Personal Communications, LLC, (“PCS”) a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, completed its previously announced transaction with SprintCom, Inc., an affiliate of Sprint
Corporation (“Sprint”). Pursuant to this transaction, among other things, the Company exchanged spectrum licenses
valued at $198.2 million and customer based contract rights, valued at $198.2 million, acquired from nTelos with
Sprint, and received an expansion of its affiliate service territory to include most of the service area served by nTelos,
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valued at $258.1 million, as well as additional customer based contract rights, valued at $138.3 million, relating to
nTelos’ and Sprint’s legacy customers in the Company’s affiliate service territory. These exchanges were accounted for
in accordance with ASC 845, “Nonmonetary Transactions”.

10
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The value of the affiliate agreement expansion is based on changes to the amended affiliate agreement that include:

an increase in the price to be paid by Sprint from 80% to 90% of the entire business value of PCS if the affiliate
agreement is not renewed;
extension of the affiliate agreement with Sprint by five years to 2029;
expanded territory in the nTelos service area;
rights to serve all future Sprint customers in the affiliate service territory;

the Company’s commitment to upgrade certain coverage and capacity in its newly acquired service area; and
a reduction of the management fee charged by Sprint under the amended affiliate agreement; not to exceed $4.2
million in an individual month until the total waived fee equals $251.8 million, as well as an additional waiver of the
management fee charged with respect to the former nTelos customers until the earlier of migration to the Sprint
back-office billing and related systems or six months following the acquisition; not to exceed $5.0 million.

Intangible assets resulting from the acquisition of nTelos and the Sprint exchange, both described above, are noted
below (dollars in thousands):

Useful Life Basis
Affiliate contract agreement 14 years $258,100
Customer based contract rights 4-10 years 138,300
Contract based intangible assets 3-19 years 11,000

The affiliate contract agreement intangible asset will be amortized on a straight-line basis and recorded as a
contra-revenue over the 14 year contract term. The other contract based intangible assets will be amortized on a
straight-line basis and recorded through amortization expense. The customer based contract rights will be amortized
over the life of the customers, gradually decreasing over the expected life of this asset, and recorded through
amortization expense.

The Company has recorded goodwill in its Wireless segment as a result of the nTelos acquisition. This goodwill is
not amortizable for tax purposes, as the Company acquired the common stock of nTelos.

Prior to the acquisition, nTelos was eligible to receive up to $5.0 million in connection with its winning bid in the
Connect America Fund's Mobility Fund Phase I Auction ("Auction 901"). Pursuant to the terms of Auction 901,
nTelos obtained a Letter of Credit (“LOC”) in the amount of $2.2 million for the benefit of the Universal Service
Administrative Company (“USAC”) to cover each disbursement plus the amount of the performance default penalty
(10% of the total eligible award). In accordance with the terms of the LOC, nTelos deposited $2.2 million into a
separate account at the issuing bank to serve as cash collateral and is presented as restricted cash. Such funds will be
released to the Company when the LOC is terminated without being drawn upon by USAC.

At the time of the acquisition, certain third party investors held a non-controlling interest in one of nTelos’
subsidiaries. Immediately after the acquisition of nTelos, the Company acquired these interests in exchange for
380,000 shares of Company common stock, to be paid in five equal installments, with the first installment paid

immediately and the remaining four to be paid over the next four years. This transaction was valued at $10.4 million.

In connection with the acquisition, at closing, the Company borrowed $810.0 million in term loans with a weighted
average effective interest rate of approximately 3.84%. The proceeds were used to finance in part the acquisition,
including the repayment of the Company’s term loan of $195.5 million, and the repayment of nTelos’ term loans at the
outstanding principal amount of $519.7 million, without penalty.

Following are the unaudited pro forma results of the Company for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and
2015 as if the acquisition of nTelos had occurred at the beginning of each of the periods presented (in millions):
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Three Months Ended

June 30,

2016 2015
Operating revenues $161.1 $170.1

Income (loss) before income taxes $ (7.5 ) $13.6

11
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Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016 2015
Operating revenues $334.4 $342.8
Income before income taxes $9.4 $37.1

The pro forma disclosures shown above are based upon estimated preliminary valuations of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed as well as preliminary estimates of depreciation and amortization charges thereon, that may differ
from the final fair values of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities and the resulting depreciation and amortization
charges thereon. Other pro forma adjustments include the following:

changes in nTelos’ reported revenues from cancelling nTelos’” wholesale contract with Sprint;

the incorporation of the Sprint-homed customers formerly serviced under the wholesale agreement into the Company’s
affiliate service territory under the Company’s affiliate agreement with Sprint;
the effect of other changes to revenues and expenses due to various provisions of the affiliate agreement, including
fees charged under the affiliate agreement on revenues from former nTelos customers, a reduction of the net service
fee charged by Sprint, the straight-line impact of the waived management fee, and the amortization of the affiliate
agreement expansion intangible asset; and the elimination of non-recurring transaction related expenses incurred by
the Company and nTelos;
the elimination of certain nTelos operating costs associated with billing and care that are covered under the fees
charged by Sprint under the affiliate agreement;
historical depreciation expense was reduced for the fair value adjustment decreasing the basis of property, plant and
equipment; this decrease was offset by a shorter estimated useful life to conform to the Company’s standard policy and
the acceleration of depreciation on certain equipment; and

incremental amortization due to the customer-based contract rights associated with acquired customers.

In connection with these transactions, the Company committed to Sprint to migrate the former nTelos customers to
devices which can interact with the Sprint billing and network systems and to maintain the nTelos billing, customer
care and switching systems until the migration is complete, and expects to incur a total of between $106 million and
$126 million of integration and acquisition expenses associated with this transaction, excluding approximately $24
million of debt issuance costs. These costs include the nTelos back office staff and support functions until the nTelos
legacy customers are migrated to the Sprint billing platform; cost of handsets to be provided to nTelos legacy
customers as they migrate to the Sprint billing platform; severance costs for back office and other former nTelos
employees who will not be retained permanently; and transaction related fees. The Company has incurred $22.4
million and $22.7 million of these costs in the three months and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively,
including $0.3 million reflected in cost of goods and services and $2.0 million reflected in selling, general and
administrative costs in both the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2016.

The amounts of operating revenue and income or loss before income taxes related to the former nTelos entity are not
readily determinable due to intercompany transactions, allocations and integration activities that have occurred in
connection with the operations of the combined company.

Former nTelos stockholders who held approximately one million shares of nTelos’ common stock have exercised their
appraisal rights under Delaware law with respect to the merger consideration of $9.25 per share paid pursuant to the
nTelos acquisition. The Company has recorded a payable for the $9.3 million aggregate remaining purchase price due
based upon the terms of the merger agreement with nTelos. At this time, the Company is unable to determine an
estimate of any final outcome of the appraisal action or the expected timing of resolving the appraisal action. Under
Delaware law, the former nTelos stockholders will be entitled to interest at the rate of 6.1% per annum on the unpaid
amount when the appraisal action is resolved.
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3.Intangible assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,
2016 2015
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net
Non-amortizing intangibles:
Cable franchise rights $64374 $ - $64,374 $64,098 $ - $64,098

Finite-lived intangibles:

Affiliate contract expansion rights $258,100 $ (3,290 ) $254,810 $- $ - $-
Acquired subscribers — wireless 138,300 (6,647 ) 131,653 - - -
Favorable leases — wireless 11,000 (183 ) 10,817 - - -
Acquired subscribers — cable 25,265 (24,246 ) 1,019 25,326 (23,805 ) 1,521
Other intangibles 2,168 (695 ) 1,473 1,938 (564 ) 1,374
Total finite-lived intangibles $434,833 $ (35,061 ) $399,772 $27,264 $ (24,369 ) 2,895
Total intangible assets $499.207 $ (35,061 ) $464,146 $91,362 $ (24,369 ) $66,993

Aggregate amortization expense for intangible assets for the periods shown is expected to be as follows:

Year Ending Amount
December 31,
(in thousands)

2016 Remaining $ 26,061

2017 48,574
2018 41,377
2019 36,619
2020 33,363
2021 30,116
thereafter 183,662
Total $ 399,772
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the six months ended June 30, 2016 are shown below (in
thousands):
Goodwill as of December 31, 2015, Wireline segment $10

Goodwill recorded January 2016, Cable segment, Colane acquisition 93
Goodwill recorded May 2016, Wireless segment, nTelos acquisition 151,627
Goodwill as of June 30, 2016 $151,730

13
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4.Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,

2016 2015
Plant in service $964,601 $ 718,503
Plant under construction 75,949 36,600
1,040,550 755,103
Less accumulated amortization and depreciation 387,027 345,085
Net property, plant and equipment $653,523  $ 410,018

5.Earnings (loss) per share

Basic net income (loss) per share was computed on the weighted average number of shares outstanding. Diluted net
income per share was computed under the treasury stock method, assuming the conversion as of the beginning of the
period, for all dilutive stock options. Of 964 thousand and 696 thousand shares and options outstanding at June 30,
2016 and 2015, respectively, 22 thousand and 79 thousand were anti-dilutive, respectively. These shares and options
have been excluded from the computations of diluted earnings per share for the six months ended June 30, 2016, and
the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2015. Due to the net loss for the three months ended June 30, 2016,
no adjustment was made to basic shares, as such adjustment would have been anti-dilutive. There were no
adjustments to net income for either period.

6.Investments Carried at Fair Value

Investments include $2.8 million and $2.7 million of investments carried at fair value as of June 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, respectively, consisting of equity, bond and money market mutual funds. Investments carried at
fair value were acquired under a rabbi trust arrangement related to the Company’s nonqualified Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan (the “SERP”). The Company purchases investments in the trust to mirror the investment

elections of participants in the SERP; gains and losses on the investments in the trust are reflected as increases or
decreases in the liability owed to the participants. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, the Company
recognized $153 thousand in dividend and interest income from investments, and recorded net unrealized gains of
$83 thousand on these investments. Fair values for these investments held under the rabbi trust were determined by
Level 1 quoted market prices for the underlying mutual funds.

7.Equipment Installment Plan Receivables

As part of the acquisition of nTelos, the Company assumed the accounts receivable associated with nTelos” Equipment
Installment Plan, (“EIP”). This plan allowed EIP subscribers to pay for their devices in installments over a 24-month
period. At the time of an installment sale, nTelos imputed interest on the installment receivable using current market
interest rate estimates ranging from approximately 5% to 10%. Additionally, the customer had the right to trade in
their original device after a specified period of time for a new device and have the remaining unpaid balance satisfied.
This trade-in right was measured at the estimated fair value of the device being traded in based on current trade-in
values and the timing of the trade-in.

Immediately following the acquisition, the Company terminated the EIP offering but has continued to service the
installment receivable and trade in obligation until such time that the customer migrates to Sprint. The accounts
receivable associated with EIP and the trade-in liability were estimated at its fair value at acquisition date in

accordance with ASC 805, “Business Combinations”.
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There was $26.0 million of EIP receivables as of June 30, 2016. The short term portion of $19.5 million is included in
accounts receivable, net. The long term portion of $6.5 million is included in deferred charges and other assets, net.

As of June 30, 2016, the liability associated with the trade-in right was $5.3 million, and is reflected in accrued
liabilities and other and other long term liabilities.
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8.Financial Instruments

Financial instruments on the consolidated balance sheets that approximate fair value include: cash and cash
equivalents, receivables, investments carried at fair value, payables, accrued liabilities, interest rate swaps and variable
rate long-term debt.

9. Derivative Instruments, Hedging Activities and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The Company’s objectives in using interest rate derivatives are to add stability to cash flows and to manage its
exposure to interest rate movements. To accomplish this objective, the Company primarily uses interest rate swaps as
part of its interest rate risk management strategy. Interest rate swaps (both those designated as cash flow hedges as
well as those not designated as cash flow hedges) involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty in
exchange for the Company making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of the
underlying notional amount.

The Company entered into a pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap of $174.6 million of notional principal in
September 2012. This interest rate swap was designated as a cash flow hedge. The total outstanding notional amount
of the cash flow hedge was $144.1 million as of June 30, 2016. The outstanding notional amount decreases as the
Company makes scheduled principal payments on the debt.

In May 2016, the Company entered into a pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap of $256.6 million of notional
principal with three counterparties. This interest rate swap was designated as a cash flow hedge. The total
outstanding notional amount of the cash flow hedge was $273.4 million as of June 30, 2016. The outstanding notional
amount increases with each expected draw on the term debt and decreases as the Company makes scheduled principal
payments on the debt. In combination with the swap entered into in 2012 described above, the Company is hedging
approximately 50% of the expected outstanding debt (including expected draws under the delayed draw term loan)
associated with the nTelos acquisition.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges
is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and is subsequently reclassified into earnings in the
period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. The Company uses its derivatives to hedge the variable
cash flows associated with existing variable-rate debt. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value of the
derivative is recognized directly in earnings through interest expense. No hedge ineffectiveness was recognized during
any of the periods presented.

Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to the interest rate swaps designated
and qualified as a cash flow hedge, are reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on the
Company’s variable-rate debt. As of June 30, 2016, the Company estimates that $3.0 million will be reclassified as an
increase to interest expense during the next twelve months due to the interest rate swaps since the hedge interest rate
exceeds the variable interest rate on the debt.

The table below presents the fair value of the Company’s derivative financial instrument as well as its classification on
the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 (in thousands):

Derivatives
Fair Value as of
Balance
Sheet June 30, December 31,
Location 2016 2015
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Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate swap

Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Accrued
liabilities
and other $ (3,016 ) $
Other

liabilities (3,502 )
Deferred
charges and
other assets,
net

$ (6,518 ) $

15

(682

1,370
688
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The fair value of interest rate swaps is determined using a pricing model with inputs that are observable in the market
(level 2 fair value inputs).

The table below presents change in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component for the six months
ended June 30, 2016 (in thousands):

Gains and
(Losses) Income Accumulated
on Tax Other
Cash Flow (Expense) Comprehensive
Hedges Benefit Income (Loss)
Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ 688 $273 ) $ 415
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (7,997 ) 3,243 (4,754 )
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (to
interest expense) 791 (322 ) 469
Net current period other comprehensive loss (7,206 ) 2921 (4,285 )
Balance as of June 30, 2016 $ (6,518 ) $2,648 $ (3,870 )

10. Other liabilities
Other liabilities include the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,

2016 2015
Retirement plan obligations $21,982 $ 2,654
Due to dissenting shareholder 9,436 -
Non-current portion of deferred revenues 8,968 4,156
Other 10,128 2,229
Other liabilities $50,514 $ 9,039

11.Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available
that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker. The Company has three reportable segments, which
the Company operates and manages as strategic business units organized by lines of business: (1) Wireless, (2) Cable,
and (3) Wireline. A fourth segment, Other, primarily includes Shenandoah Telecommunications Company, the
parent holding company.

The Wireless segment has provided digital wireless service to a portion of a four-state area covering the region from
Harrisburg, York and Altoona, Pennsylvania, to Harrisonburg, Virginia, as a Sprint PCS Affiliate. With the recent
acquisition of nTelos (see Note 2), the Company’s wireless service area has expanded to include south-central and
western Virginia, West Virginia, and small portions of Kentucky and Ohio. This segment also owns cell site towers
built on leased land, and leases space on these towers to both affiliates and non-affiliated service providers.

The Cable segment provides video, internet and voice services in Virginia, West Virginia and Maryland, and leases
fiber optic facilities throughout southern Virginia and West Virginia. It does not include video, internet and voice

services provided to customers in Shenandoah County, Virginia.

The Wireline segment provides regulated and unregulated voice services, DSL internet access, and long distance
access services throughout Shenandoah County and portions of Rockingham, Frederick, Warren and Augusta
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counties, Virginia. The segment also provides video and cable modem services in portions of Shenandoah County, and
leases fiber optic facilities throughout the northern Shenandoah Valley of Virginia, northern Virginia and adjacent
areas along the Interstate 81 corridor through West Virginia, Maryland and portions of central and southern
Pennsylvania.
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Three months ended June 30, 2016

(in thousands)

External revenues
Service revenues

Other

Total external revenues
Internal revenues

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses

Costs of goods and services, exclusive of
depreciation and amortization shown
separately below

Selling, general and administrative, exclusive
of depreciation and amortization shown
separately below

Integration and acquisition expenses
Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Three months ended June 30, 2015

(in thousands)

External revenues
Service revenues

Other

Total external revenues
Internal revenues

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses
Costs of goods and services, exclusive of

depreciation and amortization shown separately

below

Index
Consolidated
Wireless Cable Wireline Other Eliminations Totals
$86,873 $24,167 $4,820 $- $ - $ 115,860
6,280 1,923 6,246 - - 14,449
93,153 26,090 11,066 - - 130,309
1,141 311 7,525 - 8,977 ) -
94,294 26,401 18,591 - (8,977 ) 130,309
35,236 14,564 8,808 - (8,312 ) 50,296
23,010 4,794 1,670 4,885 (665 ) 33,694
5,276 - - 14,778 - 20,054
23,495 5,879 2,933 108 - 32,415
87,017 25237 13,411 19,771 (8,977 ) 136,459
$7.277 $1,164 $5,180 $(19,771) $ - $ (6,150 )
Consolidated

Wireless

$48,749
2,848
51,597
1,105
52,702

15,903

Selling, general and administrative, exclusive of

depreciation and amortization shown separately

below

Integration and acquisition expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Six months ended June 30, 2016

Table of Contents

8,917

8,612
33,432
$19,270

Cable

$22,117 $4,889
1,850 5,248
23,967 10,137
186 6,326
24,153 16,463
13,635 7,677
5,084 1,736
5,859 3,083
24,578 12,496

$(425 ) $3,967

Wireline Other

Eliminations Totals

$- $ - $ 75,755
- - 9,946
- - 85,701
- (71,617 ) -

- (7,617 ) 85,701

(16 ) (6,919 ) 30,280

3,567 (698 ) 18,606

402 - 402

109 - 17,663

4,062 (7,617 ) 66,951
$(4,062) $ - $ 18,750
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(in thousands)

Wireless Cable Wireline Other Eliminations Consolidated
Totals
External revenues
Service revenues $139,052 $48,507 $9,779 $- $ - $ 197,338
Other 9,484 3,768 12,290 - - 25,542
Total external revenues 148,536 52,275 22,069 - - 222,880
Internal revenues 2,276 572 14,901 - (17,749 ) -
Total operating revenues 150,812 52,847 36,970 - (17,749 ) 222,880
Operating expenses
Costs of goods and services, exclusive of
depreciation and amortization shown
separately below 51,815 29,210 17,450 - (16,418 ) 82,057
Selling, general and administrative, exclusive
of depreciation and amortization shown
separately below 34,524 9,902 3,275 8,750 (1,331 ) 55,120
Integration and acquisition expenses 5,276 - - 15,110 20,386
Depreciation and amortization 31,988 11,974 5,967 225 - 50,154
Total operating expenses 123,603 51,086 26,692 24,085 (17,749 ) 207,717
Operating income (loss) $27209 $1,761 $10,278 $(24,085) $ - $ 15,163
17
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Six months ended June 30, 2015

(in thousands)

Wireless Cable Wireline Other Eliminations Consolidated
Totals

External revenues
Service revenues $97,124 $43,518 $9,639 $- $- $ 150,281
Other 5,878 3,613 10,217 - - 19,708
Total external revenues 103,002 47,131 19,856 - - 169,989
Internal revenues 2,209 334 12,192 - (14,735 ) -
Total operating revenues 105,211 47,465 32,048 - (14,735 ) 169,989

Operating expenses

Costs of goods and services, exclusive of

depreciation and amortization shown

separately below 32,090 27,253 15,011 - (13,384 ) 60,970
Selling, general and administrative, exclusive

of depreciation and amortization shown

separately below 17,969 9,976 3,234 6,890 (1,351 ) 36,718
Integration and acquisition expenses - - - 1,024 1,024
Depreciation and amortization 16,444 11,338 6,007 212 - 34,001
Total operating expenses 66,503 48,567 24,252 8,126 (14,735 ) 132,713
Operating income (loss) 38,708 (1,102) 7,796 (8,126) - 37,276

A reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments’ operating income (loss) to consolidated income (loss) before
taxes is as follows:

Three Months Ended
June 30,
(in thousands) 2016 2015
Total consolidated operating income (loss) $(6,150 ) $18,750
Interest expense (5,904 ) (1,940 )
Non-operating income, net 167 540
Income (loss) before income taxes $(11,887 ) $17,350
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2016 2015
Total consolidated operating income (loss) $15,163 $37,276
Interest expense (7,524 ) (3,855)
Non-operating income, net 723 1,074
Income before income taxes $8,362  $34,495

The Company’s assets by segment are as follows:

June 30, December 31,
(in thousands) 2016 2015
Wireless $1,142,459 $ 205,718
Cable 210,542 209,132
Wireline 111,728 105,369
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Other 1,083,152 463,390
Combined totals 2,547,881 983,609
Inter-segment eliminations  (1,092,040) (356,458 )
Consolidated totals $1,455,841 $ 627,151
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12.Income Taxes

The Company files U.S. federal income tax returns and various state and local income tax returns. With few
exceptions, years prior to 2012 are no longer subject to examination. The Company is not subject to any state or
federal income tax audits as of June 30, 2016.

13. Adoption of New Accounting Principles

During 2016, the Company adopted four recent accounting principles: Accounting Standards Update 2015-03, “Interest
— Imputation of Interest” (ASU 2015-03), ASU 2015-17, “Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes”, ASU 2016-09,
“Improvements to Employee Share-based Payment Accounting,” and ASU 2015-16, “Simplifying the Accounting for
Measurement-Period Adjustments.”

ASU 2015-03 requires that premiums, discounts, and loan fees and costs associated with long term debt be reflected
as a reduction of the outstanding debt balance. Previous guidance had treated such loan fees and costs as a deferred
charge on the balance sheet. As a result of implementing ASU 2015-03, the Company reclassified $1.6 million of
unamortized loan fees and costs included in deferred charges and other assets as of December 31, 2015 to long-term
debt. Approximately $0.5 million was allocated to current maturities of long-term debt, and $1.1 million to long term
debt. Total assets, as well as total liabilities and shareholders’ equity, were also reduced by the same $1.6 million. In
addition, the Company reclassified $4.3 million of unamortized loan fees and costs included in deferred charges and
other assets to long term debt in connection with the new Term loan A-1 and A-2 borrowing related to the acquisition
of nTelos. Total assets, as well as total liabilities and shareholders’ equity, were also reduced by the same $4.3
million. There was no impact on the statements of income or cash flows.

ASU 2015-17 simplifies accounting for deferred taxes by eliminating the requirement to present deferred tax assets
and liabilities as current and non-current in a classified balance sheet. Due to the immaterial balance of current
deferred tax assets ($0.9 million as of December 31, 2015), the Company has elected to apply this guidance
prospectively, and thus prior periods have not been retrospectively adjusted.

ASU 2016-09 simplifies certain provisions related to the accounting for the tax effects of stock-based compensation
transactions. In particular for the Company, it eliminates the requirement to determine for each award whether the
difference between book compensation and tax compensation results in an excess tax benefit or a tax deficiency,
which generally speaking, result in an entry to additional paid-in-capital. Under the new guidance, all tax effects for
exercised or vested awards are recognized as discrete items in income tax expense. The new guidance also allows an
employer to withhold shares to cover more than the minimum statutory withholding taxes (but not more than the
maximum statutory withholding requirements) without causing an equity-classified award to become a liability
classified award. The other provisions of the new guidance are either not applicable or have no significant impact on
the Company’s accounting for stock-based compensation transactions. The Company has elected to early adopt the
new guidance and apply it prospectively to tax effects on share-based compensation transactions.

ASU 2015-16 requires that an acquirer recognize adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the
measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined.
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14.Long-term Debt and Revolving Line of Credit

Total debt consists of the following:

(In thousands) June 30, December 31,
2016 2015
Term loan A $- $ 201,250
Term loan A-1 485,000 -
Term loan A-2 350,000 -
Capital lease outstanding 413 -
835,413 201,250
Less: unamortized loan fees 19,840 1,589
Total debt, net of unamortized loan fees $815,573 $ 199,661

Current maturities, net of unamortized loan fees $20,147 $ 22,492
Long-term debt, net of unamortized loan fees $795,426 $ 177,169

As previously disclosed, on December 18, 2015, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement (as amended, the “2016
credit agreement”) with various banks and other financial institutions party thereto and CoBank, ACB, as
administrative agent for the lenders, providing for three facilities: (i) a five year revolving credit facility of up to $75
million; (ii) a five-year term loan facility of up to $485 million (Term Loan A-1); and (iii) a seven-year term loan
facility of up to $400 million (“Term Loan A-2").

In connection with the closing of the nTelos acquisition, the Company borrowed (i) $485 million under Term Loan
A-1 and (ii) $325 million under Term Loan A-2, which amounts were used to, among other things, fund the payment
of the nTelos merger consideration, to refinance, in full, all indebtedness under the Company’s existing credit
agreement, to repay existing long-term indebtedness of nTelos and to pay fees and expenses in connection with the
foregoing. In connection with the consummation of the nTelos acquisition, nTelos and its subsidiaries became
guarantors under the 2016 credit agreement and pledged their assets as security for the obligations under the 2016
credit agreement. The 2016 credit agreement also includes $75 million available under the Term Loan A-2 as a
“delayed draw term loan,” and in June 2016, the Company drew $25 million under this portion of the agreement.

Finally, the 2016 credit agreement also includes a $75 million revolver facility.

As of June 30, 2016, the Company’s indebtedness totaled $815.6 million, net of unamortized loan fees of $19.8
million, with an annualized overall weighted average interest rate of approximately 3.84%. The Term Loan A-1 bears
interest at one-month LIBOR plus a margin of 2.75%, while the Term Loan A-2 bears interest at one-month LIBOR
plus a margin of 3.00%. LIBOR resets monthly. These loans are more fully described below.

The Term Loan A-1 requires quarterly principal repayments of $6.1 million beginning on September 30, 2016 through
June 30, 2017, increasing to $12.1 million quarterly thereafter through June 30, 2021, with the remaining expected
balance of approximately $242.5 million due September 30, 2021. The Term Loan A-2 requires quarterly principal

repayments of $10.0 million beginning on September 30, 2018 through March 31, 2023, with the remaining expected

balance of approximately $210 million due June 30, 2023.

The 2016 credit agreement also required the Company to enter into one or more hedge agreements to manage its
exposure to interest rate movements. The Company elected to hedge the minimum required under the 2016 credit
agreement, and entered into a pay fixed, receive variable swap on 50% of the aggregate principal balance of the term
loans outstanding for at least three years from the closing date. The Company will receive one month LIBOR and pay
a fixed rate of 1.16%, in addition to the 2.75% initial spread on Term Loan A-1 and the 3.00% initial spread on Term
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The 2016 credit agreement contains affirmative and negative covenants customary to secured credit facilities,
including covenants restricting the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries, subject to negotiated exceptions, to
incur additional indebtedness and additional liens on their assets, engage in mergers or acquisitions or dispose of
assets, pay dividends or make other distributions, voluntarily prepay other indebtedness, enter into transactions with

affiliated persons, make investments, and change the nature of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ businesses.
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Indebtedness outstanding under any of the facilities may be accelerated by an Event of Default, as defined in the 2016
credit agreement.

The Facilities are secured by a pledge by the Company of its stock in its subsidiaries, a guarantee by the Company’s
subsidiaries other than Shenandoah Telephone Company, and a security interest in substantially all of the assets of the
Company and the guarantors.

The Company is subject to certain financial covenants to be measured on a trailing twelve month basis each calendar
quarter unless otherwise specified. These covenants include:

a limitation on the Company’s total leverage ratio, defined as indebtedness divided by earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization, or EBITDA, of less than or equal to 3.75 to 1.00 from the closing date through
December 30, 2018, then 3.25 to 1.00 through December 30, 2019, and 3.00 to 1.00 thereafter;

a minimum debt service coverage ratio, defined as EBITDA minus certain cash taxes divided by the sum of all
scheduled principal payments on the Term Loans and scheduled principal payments on other indebtedness plus cash
interest expense, greater than 2.00 to 1.0;

the Company must maintain a minimum liquidity balance, defined as availability under the revolver facility plus
unrestricted cash and cash equivalents on deposit in a deposit account for which a control agreement has been
delivered to the administrative agent under the 2016 credit agreement, of greater than $25 million at all times.

These ratios are generally less restrictive than the covenant ratios the Company had been required to comply with
under its previously existing debt arrangements. As of June 30, 2016, the Company was in compliance with the
covenants in the 2016 credit agreement.

Future maturities of long-term debt principal are as follows (in thousands):

2016 $12,238

2017 36,714
2018 68,593
2019 88,593
2020 100,625

Thereafter 528,650
Total $835,413
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15.Pension Plan and Other Postretirement Benefits

The Company assumed, through its acquisition of nTelos, a qualified pension plan and other postretirement benefit
plans. The following tables provide the benefit obligations, fair value of assets and a statement of the funded status as
of the acquisition date:

Other Postretirement
Defined Benefit Pension Plan  Benefit Plans

(In thousands) 2016 2016

Benefit obligations, at acquisition $ 37,443 $ 4,568

Fair value of plan assets, at acquisition $ 22,813 $ —

Funded status:

Total liability, at acquisition $ (14,630 )$ (4,568 )

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plan at May 6, 2016 was $37.4 million. The
accumulated benefit obligation represents the present value of pension benefits based on service and salary earned to
date. The defined benefit plan was frozen for future benefit accruals as of December 31, 2012. Accordingly, the
accumulated benefit obligation is equal to the projected benefit obligation.

The following table provides the components of net periodic benefit cost for the plans for the period from acquisition
date to December 31, 2016:

Defined Benefit Other Postretirement

Pension Plan Benefit Plans
(In thousands) 2016 2016
Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost $ - $ 18
Interest cost 956 108
Recognized net actuarial loss - -
Expected return on plan assets (1,018 ) -
Net periodic benefit cost $ (62 ) $ 126

Prior service costs assumed by the Company are amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service
period of active participants. Gains and losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the benefit obligation and the
market-related value of assets are amortized over the average remaining service period of active participants. The net
periodic benefit cost from the defined benefit plans was $0.0 million for the period from acquisition through June 30,
2016.

The total amount reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss related to actuarial losses from the defined
benefit plans was $0.0 million for the period from acquisition through June 30, 2016.

The assumptions used in the measurements of the Company’s benefit obligations at May 6, 2016 for the plans are
shown in the following table:

Defined Other
Benefit Postretirement
Pension Plan  Benefit Plans
2016 2016

Discount rate  3.85 %  3.85 %
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The assumptions used in the measurements of the Company’s net cost for the consolidated statement of operations for
the period from acquisition date through December 31, 2016 are:

Other
Defined Benefit  Postretirement
Pension Plan Benefit Plans
2016 2016
Discount rate 3.85 % 3.85 %

Expected return on plan assets 6.75 D —
Rate of compensation increase =~ — —

The Company reviews the assumptions noted in the above table annually or more frequently to reflect anticipated
future changes in the underlying economic factors used to determine these assumptions. The discount rates assumed
reflect the rate at which the Company could invest in high quality corporate bonds in order to settle future obligations.

The Company uses updated mortality tables published by the Society of Actuaries that predict increasing life
expectancies in the United States.

For measurement purposes, an 8.0% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was
assumed for 2016 for the obligation as of December 31, 2015. The rate was assumed to decrease one-half percent per
year to a rate of 5.0% for 2022 and remain at that level thereafter.

Assumed health care cost trend rates may have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans.
The effect of a 1% change on the medical trend rate per future year, while holding all other assumptions constant, to
the service and interest cost components of net periodic postretirement health care benefit costs and accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation would be a $0.1 million increase and a $0.6 million increase, respectively, for a 1%
increase in medical trend rate and a $0.1 million decrease and a $0.5 million decrease, respectively, for a 1% decrease
in medical trend rate.

In developing the expected long-term rate of return assumption for the assets of the Defined Benefit Pension Plan, the
Company evaluated input from its third-party pension plan administrator, including its review of asset class return
expectations and long-term inflation assumptions.

The average actual asset allocations by asset category and the fair value by asset category as of May 6, 2016 were as
follows:

Fair Value as of
Actual Allocation as of ~ May 6,

Asset Category (dollars in thousands) May 6, 2016 2016
Large Cap Value 32 % $ 7,244
Mid Cap Blend 9 % 2,026
Small Cap Blend 5 % 1,151
Foreign Stock — Large Cap 30 % 6,867
Bond 20 % 4,611
Cash and cash equivalents 4 % 914
Total 100 % $ 22,813

The actual and target allocation for plan assets is broadly defined and measured as follows:

Asset Category Actual Target
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Allocation  Allocation

Equity securities 76 % 6515 %

Bond securities and cash equivalents 24 % 25-35 %

Total 100 % 100 %
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It is the Company’s policy to invest pension plan assets in a diversified portfolio consisting of an array of asset classes.

The investment risk of the assets is limited by appropriate diversification both within and between asset classes. The
assets are primarily invested in investment funds that invest in a broad mix of publicly traded equities, bonds and cash
equivalents (and fair value is based on quoted market prices (“Level 1” input)). The allocation between equity and bonds

is reset quarterly to the target allocations. Updates to the allocation are considered in the normal course and changes

may be made when appropriate. The bond holdings consist of two bond funds split relatively evenly between these
funds at May 6, 2016. The maximum holdings of any one asset within these funds is under 4% of this fund and thus is
well under 1% of the total portfolio. At May 6, 2016, the Company believes that there are no material concentrations
of risk within the portfolio of plan assets.

The assumed long-term return noted above is the target long-term return. Overall return, risk adjusted return, and
management fees are assessed against a peer group and benchmark indices. There are minimum performance
standards that must be attained within the investment portfolio. Reporting on asset performance is provided quarterly
and review meetings are held semi-annually. In addition to normal rebalancing to maintain an adequate cash reserve,
projected cash flow needs of the plan are reviewed at least annually to ensure liquidity is properly managed.

The Company does not expect to contribute to the pension plan in 2016. The Company expects the net periodic
benefit cost for the defined benefit pension plan in 2016 to be $0.1 million and expects the periodic benefit cost for the
other postretirement benefit plans in 2016 to be $0.1 million.

The following estimated future pension benefit payments and other postretirement benefit plan payments which reflect
expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid in the years indicated:

Defined
Benefit Other
Pension Postretirement

(In thousands) Plan Benefit Plans
2016 $371 $ 96

2017 700 136

2018 720 131

2019 768 134

2020 868 142
Aggregate of next five years 6,219 977
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ITEM MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
2. OPERATIONS

This management’s discussion and analysis includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. When used in this report, the
words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “plan” and similar expressions as they relate to Shenandoah
Telecommunications Company or its management are intended to identify these forward-looking statements. All
statements regarding Shenandoah Telecommunications Company’s expected future financial position and operating
results, business strategy, financing plans, forecasted trends relating to the markets in which Shenandoah
Telecommunications Company operates and similar matters are forward-looking statements. We cannot assure you
that the Company’s expectations expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements will turn out to be correct.
The Company’s actual results could be materially different from its expectations because of various factors, including
those discussed below and under the caption “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for its fiscal
year ended December 31, 2015. The following management’s discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction
with the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, including the financial
statements and related notes included therein.

99 ¢

General

Overview. Shenandoah Telecommunications Company is a diversified telecommunications company providing both
regulated and unregulated telecommunications services through its wholly owned subsidiaries. These subsidiaries
provide wireless personal communications services (as a Sprint PCS affiliate), local exchange telephone services,
video, internet and data services, long distance services, fiber optics facilities, and leased tower facilities. We have

three reportable segments, which we operate and manage as strategic business units organized by lines of business: (1)
Wireless, (2) Cable, and (3) Wireline.

The Wireless segment has historically provided digital wireless service as a Sprint PCS Affiliate to a portion of a
four-state area covering the region from Harrisburg, York and Altoona, Pennsylvania, to Harrisonburg, Virginia.
Following the acquisition of nTelos, the Company’s wireless service area expanded to include south-central and

*western Virginia, West Virginia, and small portions of Kentucky and Ohio. In this area, we are the exclusive
provider of wireless mobility communications network products and services on the 800 MHz, 1900 MHz and 2.5
GHz bands under the Sprint brand. This segment also owns cell site towers built on leased land, and leases space on
these towers to both affiliates and non-affiliated service providers.

The Cable segment provides video, internet and voice services in franchise areas in portions of Virginia, West
*Virginia and western Maryland, and leases fiber optic facilities throughout its service area. It does not include video,
internet and voice services provided to customers in Shenandoah County, Virginia.

The Wireline segment provides regulated and unregulated voice services, DSL internet access, and long
distance access services throughout Shenandoah County and portions of Rockingham, Frederick, Warren
and Augusta counties, Virginia. The segment also provides video and cable modem internet access services
in portions of Shenandoah County, and leases fiber optic facilities throughout the northern Shenandoah
Valley of Virginia, northern Virginia and adjacent areas along the Interstate 81 corridor through West
Virginia, Maryland and portions of central and southern Pennsylvania.

A fourth segment, Other, primarily includes Shenandoah Telecommunications Company, the parent holding company.
This segment includes certain acquisition and integration costs primarily consisting of severance accruals for
short-term nTelos employees to be separated as integration activities wind down and transaction related expenses such
as investment advisor, legal and other professional fees.
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Acquisition of nTelos and Exchange with Sprint: On May 6, 2016, we completed our previously announced
acquisition of NTELOS Holdings Corp. (“nTelos”) for $663.7 million in cash, net of cash acquired. The purchase price
was financed by a credit facility arranged by CoBank, ACB. We have included the operations of nTelos for financial
reporting purposes for periods subsequent to the acquisition.

Immediately after acquiring nTelos, we exchanged spectrum licenses valued at $198.2 million and customer based
contract rights, valued at $198.2 million, acquired from nTelos with Sprint, and received an expansion of our affiliate
service territory to include most of the service area served by nTelos, valued at $258.1 million, as well as additional
customer based contract rights, valued at $138.3 million, relating to nTelos’ and Sprint’s legacy customers in the our
affiliate service territory. The value of the affiliate agreement expansion is based on changes to the amended affiliate
agreement that include an increase in the price to be paid by Sprint from 80% to 90% of the entire business value of
PCS if the affiliate agreement is not renewed and an extension of the affiliate agreement with Sprint by five years to
2029. Also included in the value is the expanded territory in the nTelos service area and the accompanying right to
serve all future Sprint customers in the expanded territory, our commitment to upgrade certain coverage and capacity
in the newly acquired service area, the waiver of a portion of the management fee charged by Sprint, as well as other
items defined in the amended affiliate agreement.

In connection with the acquisition, we committed to Sprint to migrate the former nTelos customers to devices that can
interact with the Sprint billing and network systems and to maintain the nTelos billing, customer care and switching
systems until the migration is complete, and expect to incur a total of between $106 million and $126 million of
integration and acquisition expenses associated with this transaction, excluding approximately $24 million of debt
issuance costs. These costs include the nTelos back office staff and support functions until the nTelos legacy
customers are migrated to the Sprint billing platform; cost of handsets to be provided to nTelos legacy customers as
they migrate to the Sprint billing platform; severance costs for back office and other former nTelos employees who
will not be retained permanently; and transaction related fees. We have incurred $22.4 million and $22.7 million of
these costs in the three months and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, including $0.3 million reflected in
cost of goods and services and $2.0 million reflected in selling, general and administrative costs in both the three and
six month periods ended June 30, 2016.

Critical Accounting Policies And Estimates

In connection with the nTelos acquisition and exchange transaction with Sprint, we have added the following critical
accounting policies:

Revenue Recognition: Under our amended affiliate agreement, Sprint agreed to waive the management fee, which is
historically presented as a contra-revenue by us, for a period of approximately six years. The impact of Sprint’s waiver
of the management fee over the approximate six-year period is reflected as an increase in revenue, offset by the
non-cash adjustment to recognize this impact on a straight-line basis over the contract term of approximately 14 years.

Goodwill: Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment on at least an annual basis. Impairment testing is
required more often than annually if an event or circumstance indicates that impairment is more likely than not to have
occurred. In conducting our annual impairment testing, we may first perform a qualitative assessment of whether it is
more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount. If not, no further goodwill
impairment testing is required. If it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying
amount, or if we elect not to perform a qualitative assessment of a reporting unit, we then compare the fair value of
the reporting unit to the related net book value. If the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, an
impairment loss is measured and recognized. We conduct our annual impairment testing as of October 1.

Pension Benefits and Retirement Benefits Other Than Pensions: Through our acquisition of nTelos, we assumed
nTelos’ non-contributory defined benefit pension plan (“Pension Plan™) covering all employees who met eligibility
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requirements and were employed by nTelos prior to October 1, 2003. The Pension Plan was closed to nTelos
employees hired on or after October 1, 2003. Pension benefits vest after five years of plan service and are based on
years of service and an average of the five highest consecutive years of compensation subject to certain reductions if
the employee retires before reaching age 65 and elects to receive the benefit prior to age 65. Effective December 31,
2012, nTelos froze future benefit accruals. We use updated mortality tables published by the Society of Actuaries that
predict increasing life expectancies in the United States.
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IRC Sections 412 and 430 and Sections 302 and 303 of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as
amended establish minimum funding requirements for defined benefit pension plans. The minimum required
contribution is generally equal to the target normal cost plus the shortfall amortization installments for the current plan
year and each of the six preceding plan years less any calculated credit balance. If plan assets (less calculated credits)
are equal to or exceed the funding target, the minimum required contribution is the target normal cost reduced by the
excess funding, but not below zero. Our policy is to make contributions to stay at or above the threshold required in
order to prevent benefit restrictions and related additional notice requirements and is intended to provide not only for
benefits based on service to date, but also for those expected to be earned in the future. We also assumed two qualified
nonpension postretirement benefit plans that provide certain health care and life benefits for nTelos retired employees
that meet eligibility requirements. The health care plan is contributory, with participants’ contributions adjusted
annually. The life insurance plan also is contributory. These obligations, along with all of the pension plans and other
postretirement benefit plans, are obligations assumed by us. Eligibility for the life insurance plan is restricted to active
pension participants age 50-64 as of January 5, 1994. Neither plan is eligible to employees hired after April 1993. The
accounting for the plans anticipates that we will maintain a consistent level of cost sharing for the benefits with the
retirees. Our share of the projected costs of benefits that will be paid after retirement is generally being accrued by
charges to expense over the eligible employees’ service periods to the dates they are fully eligible for benefits.

We record annual amounts relating to the Pension Plan and postretirement benefit plans based on calculations that
incorporate various actuarial and other assumptions, including discount rates, mortality, assumed rates of return,
turnover rates and healthcare cost trend rates. We reviews our assumptions on an annual basis and makes
modifications to the assumptions based on current rates and trend when it is appropriate to do so. The effect of
modifications to those assumptions is recorded in accumulated other comprenhensive income (loss) and amortized to
net periodic cost over future periods using the corridor method.

Results of Operations
Three Months Ended June 30, 2016 Compared with the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015

Our consolidated results for the second quarter of 2016 and 2015 are summarized as follows:

Three Months Ended Change

June 30,
(in thousands) 2016 2015 $ %
Operating revenues $130,309 $85,701 $44,608 52.1
Operating expenses 136,459 66,951 69,508 103.8
Operating income (loss) (6,150 ) 18,750 (24,900) (132.8)
Interest expense (5,904 ) (1,940 ) (3,964 ) 204.3
Other income, net 167 540 (373 ) (69.1 )

Income (loss) before taxes (11,887 ) 17,350 (29,237) (168.5)
Income tax expense (benefit) (4,892 ) 6,876 (11,768) (171.1)
Net income (loss) $(6,995 ) $10,474 $(17,469) (166.8)

Operating revenues

For the three months ended June 30, 2016, operating revenues increased $44.6 million, or 52.1%. Wireless segment
revenues increased $41.9 million compared to the second quarter of 2015; nearly all of this increase was a result of the
acquisition of nTelos on May 6, 2016. Cable segment revenues grew $2.2 million primarily as a result of 6.7% growth

in average subscriber counts and an increase in revenue per subscriber. Wireline segment revenues increased $0.8
million, net of eliminations of intersegment activities, primarily due to increases in fiber sales.
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Operating expenses

Total operating expenses were $136.5 million in the second quarter of 2016 compared to $67.0 million in the prior
year period. Operating expenses in the second quarter of 2016 included $20.1 million of overall integration and
acquisition costs associated with the nTelos acquisition, including $5.3 million on the Wireless segment and $14.8
million in the Other segment. Selling, general and administrative expenses and cost of goods and services in the
Wireless segment included an additional $2.3 million of nTelos-related customer care and other back office costs
related to supporting the nTelos legacy customers until the migration of these customers is completed. Wireless
segment operating expenses increased $46.0 million (excluding the $7.6 million of customer care, integration and
acquisition expenses described above), primarily due to on-going costs associated with the acquired nTelos operations
including $12.8 million of incremental depreciation and amortization expenses. All other operating expenses
increased $1.5 million, net of eliminations of intersegment activities.

Acquisition and integration costs on the Other segment primarily consisted of severance accruals for short-term
nTelos personnel to be separated as integration activities wind down and transaction related expenses such as
investment advisor, legal and other professional fees. On the Wireless segment, such costs included handsets

provided to nTelos subscribers who needed a new phone to transition to the Sprint billing platform and personnel
costs associated with short-term nTelos employees required to migrate the former nTelos customers to the Sprint
back-office.

27

Table of Contents 63



Edgar Filing: CAPITAL SENIOR LIVING CORP - Form 424B5

Index
Income tax expense

Our effective tax rate increased from 39.6% for the three months ended June 30, 2015 to 41.2% for the three months
ended June 30, 2016. This increase primarily resulted from discrete tax benefits resulting from the change in
accounting for stock option exercises and share award distributions in the second quarter of 2016 in accordance with
ASU 2016-09 applied against our net loss for the quarter. In prior year periods, such tax benefits were recorded
directly to equity.

Net income
For the three months ended June 30, 2016, net income decreased $17.5 million, or 166.8%, primarily reflecting
acquisition and integration costs incurred, increased depreciation and amortization, straight-lining of certain Sprint
credits, and higher interest on the increased balance of outstanding debt as a result of the nTelos acquisition, net of
taxes.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 Compared with the Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

The Company’s consolidated results for the first six months of 2016 and 2015 are summarized as follows:

Six Months Ended Chanee
June 30, &
(in thousands) 2016 2015 $ %

Operating revenues  $222,880 $169,989 $52,891  31.1
Operating expenses 207,717 132,713 75,004  56.5
Operating income 15,163 37,276 (22,113) (59.3)

Interest expense (7,524 ) (3,855 ) (3,669 ) 95.2

Other income, net 723 1,074 (351 ) (32.7)
Income before taxes 8,362 34,495 (26,133) (75.8)
Income tax expense 1,477 13,735 (12,258) (89.2)
Net income $6,885 $20,760  $(13,875) (66.8)

Operating revenues

For the six months ended June 30, 2016, operating revenues increased $52.9 million, or 31.1%. Wireless segment
revenues increased $45.6 million compared to the first six months of 2015. The new revenues associated with the
nTelos customers and the Sprint customers in the nTelos footprint, net of amortization of the expanded Sprint affiliate
agreement asset and the straight line adjustment to certain Sprint Fee credits, accounted for most of this increase.
Cable segment revenues grew $5.4 million primarily as a result of 6.4% growth in average subscriber counts and an
increase in revenue per subscriber. Wireline segment revenues increased $1.9 million, net of eliminations of
intersegment activities, primarily due to increases in fiber sales.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses increased $75.0 million in the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to the prior year
period. Operating expenses in the six months ended June 30, 2016 included $20.4 million of overall integration and
acquisition costs associated with the nTelos acquisition, including $5.3 million on the Wireless segment and $15.1
million in the Other segment. Selling, general and administrative expenses and cost of goods and services in the
Wireless segment included an additional $2.3 million of nTelos-related customer care and other back office costs
related to supporting the nTelos legacy customers until the migration of these customers is completed. Wireless
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segment operating expenses increased $49.5 million (excluding the $7.6 million of customer care, integration and
acquisition expenses described above), primarily due to on-going costs associated with the acquired nTelos operations
and $12.8 million of incremental depreciation associated with the related acquired assets. All other operating
expenses increased $2.8 million, net of eliminations of intersegment activities.

Acquisition and integration costs on the Other segment primarily consisted of severance accruals for short-term
nTelos personnel to be separated as integration activities wind down, and transaction related expenses (such as
investment advisor, legal and other professional fees). On the Wireless segment, such costs included handsets
provided to nTelos subscribers who needed a new phone to transition to the Sprint billing platform and personnel
costs associated with short-term nTelos employees required to migrate the former nTelos customers to the Sprint
back-office.
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Income tax expense

Our effective tax rate decreased from 39.8% for the six months ended June 30, 2015 to 17.7% for the six months
ended June 30, 2016. This decrease primarily resulted from discrete tax benefits resulting from the change in
accounting for stock option exercises and share award distributions in the first six months of 2016 in accordance with
ASU 2016-09. In prior year periods, such tax benefits were recorded directly to equity.

Net income

For the six months ended June 30, 2016, net income decreased $13.9 million, or 66.8%, primarily reflecting
acquisition and integration costs incurred, increased depreciation and amortization, straight-lining of certain Sprint
credits, and higher interest on the expanded outstanding debt as a result of the nTelos acquisition, net of taxes.

Wireless

Our Wireless segment historically provided digital wireless service to a portion of a four-state area covering the region
from Harrisburg, York and Altoona, Pennsylvania, to Harrisonburg, Virginia, through Shenandoah Personal
Communications, LLC (“PCS”), a Sprint PCS Affiliate. Following the recent acquisition of nTelos, our wireless service
territory expanded to include south-central and western Virginia, West Virginia, and small portions of Kentucky and
Ohio. Through Shenandoah Mobile, LLC (“Mobile”), this segment also leases land on which it builds Company-owned
cell towers, which it leases to affiliates and non-affiliated wireless service providers, throughout the same four-state
area described above.

PCS receives revenues from Sprint for subscribers that obtain service in PCS’s network coverage area. PCS relies on
Sprint to provide timely, accurate and complete information to record the appropriate revenue for each financial
period. Postpaid revenues received from Sprint are recorded net of certain fees retained by Sprint. Through
December 31, 2015, these fees totaled 22% of postpaid net billed revenue (gross customer billings net of credits and
adjustments to customer accounts, and write-offs of uncollectible accounts), as defined by the Affiliate Agreement
with Sprint. Effective January 1, 2016, the fees charged by Sprint declined to 16.6%, and certain revenue and expense
items previously included in these fees became separately settled.

We also offer prepaid wireless products and services in our PCS network coverage area. Sprint retains a Management
Fee equal to 6% of prepaid customer billings. Prepaid revenues received from Sprint are reported net of the cost of
this fee. Other fees charged on a per unit basis are separately recorded as expenses according to the nature of the
expense. We pay handset subsidies to Sprint for the difference between the selling price of prepaid handsets and their
cost, recorded as a net cost in cost of goods sold. The revenue and expense components reported to us by Sprint are
based on Sprint’s national averages for prepaid services, rather than being specifically determined by customers
assigned to our geographic service areas.

The following tables show selected operating statistics of the Wireless segment as of the dates shown:

June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31,

2016 2015 2015 2014
Retail PCS Subscribers — Postpaid 717,563 312,512 296,492 287,867
Retail PCS Subscribers — Prepaid 289,311 142,840 145,431 145,162
PCS Market POPS (000) (1) 5,536 2,433 2,421 2,415
PCS Covered POPS (000) (1) 4,528 2,224 2,213 2,207
CDMA Base Stations (sites) 1,425 552 546 537
Towers Owned 177 158 154 154
Non-affiliate Cell Site Leases 211 202 202 198
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The June 30, 2016 numbers shown above include the following amounts acquired in the nTelos acquisition:

Index

Acquired PCS Subscribers — Postpaid 404,444
Acquired PCS Subscribers — Prepaid 154,944
Acquired PCS Market POPS (000) (1) 3,099
Acquired PCS Covered POPS (000) (1) 2,298
Acquired CDMA Base Stations (sites) (2) 868
Towers 20
Non-affiliate Cell Site Leases 10
Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
Gross PCS Subscriber Additions — Postpaid 26,185 17,734 43,541 34,839
Net PCS Subscriber Additions (Losses) — Postpaid (1,319 ) 5414 1,400 8,625
Gross PCS Subscriber Additions — Prepaid 27,353 19,958 48,584 43,578
Net PCS Subscriber Additions (Losses) — Prepaid (6,912 ) (2,352 ) (7,213) 269
PCS Average Monthly Retail Churn % - Postpaid (3) 156 % 140 % 156 % 150 %
PCS Average Monthly Retail Churn % - Prepaid (3) 474 % 507 % 490 % 492 %

POPS refers to the estimated population of a given geographic area and is based on information purchased from

1)third party sources. Market POPS are those within a market area which we are authorized to serve under our Sprint
PCS affiliate agreements, and Covered POPS are those covered by our network.

2)

months.

3)

period.

Net of approximately 160 overlap cell sites we intend to shut down in coming

PCS Average Monthly Retail Churn is the average of the monthly subscriber turnover, or churn, calculations for the

In addition, 1,260 former nTelos prepaid subscribers switched to postpaid subscribers as they migrated to the Sprint
back-office platforms during the three and six months ended June 30, 2016.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2016 Compared with the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015

(in thousands)

Segment operating revenues

Wireless service revenue

Tower lease revenue

Equipment revenue

Other revenue

Total segment operating revenues

Segment operating expenses

Cost of goods and services, exclusive of depreciation
shown separately below

Selling, general and administrative, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization shown separately below

Integration and acquisition expenses

Depreciation and amortization

and amortization
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Three Months Ended Chanee

June 30, g

2016 2015 $ %

$86,873 $48749 $38,124 782
2,812 2,592 220 8.5
2,777 1,286 1,491 115.9
1,832 75 1,757 NA
94,294 52,702 41,592 789
35,236 15,903 19,333 121.6
23,010 8,917 14,093 158.0
5,276 - 5,276 NM
23,495 8,612 14,883 172.8
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Total segment operating expenses 87,017 33,432 53,585 160.3
Segment operating income $7,277 $19,270 $(11,993) (62.2)
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Service Revenues

Wireless service revenue increased $38.1 million, or 78.2%, for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to
the comparable 2015 period. See table below.

(in thousands) Three Months Ended

June 30, Change
Service Revenues 2016 2015 $ %
Postpaid net billings $75,219 $46,704 $28,515 61.1
Sprint fees
Management fee (6,344 ) (3,706 ) (2,638) 71.2
Net Service fee (5,307 ) (6,485 ) 1,178 (18.2)
Waiver of management fee 5,129 - 5,129 NM
(6,522 ) (10,191 ) 3,669 (36.0)
Prepaid net billings
Gross billings 20,504 12,945 7,559 58.4
Sprint management fee (1,218 ) (783 ) (435 ) NM
Waiver of management fee 966 - 966 NM
20,252 12,162 8,000 66.5
Travel and other revenues 4,260 74 4,186 NM
Accounting adjustments
Amortization of expanded affiliate agreement (3,290 ) - (3,290 ) N\M
Straight-line adjustment - management fee waiver (3,046 ) - (3,046 ) NM
(6,336 ) - (6,336 ) NM
Total Service Revenues $86,873 $48,749 $38,124 78.2

Operating revenues

Effective May 6, 2016, we acquired approximately 404,000 postpaid and 155,000 prepaid subscribers through our
acquisition of nTelos. This acquisition and other changes to the postpaid customer gross additions and churn, outlined
in the tables above, resulted in an increase of $28.5 million or 61.1% in postpaid net billings. Effective January 1,
2016, the fees retained by Sprint, and deducted from postpaid revenues, decreased from 22% to 16.6% and they
agreed to settle certain revenue and expense items separately. As a result, Sprint fees dropped by $4.6 million or
45.5%. Travel revenues, which are now settled separately, and other similarly settled items grew by $4.2 million.
Prepaid net billings grew by $7.6 million or 58.4% as a result of the growth in the customer base related to the nTelos
acquisition and other changes in gross additions and churn outlined in the tables above.

We recorded an asset related to the changes to the Sprint affiliate agreement as described in the nTelos acquisition
footnote above. That asset is being amortized through the expiration of the initial term of that contract in 2029 and, as
a result, we recorded $3.3 million in amortization in the second quarter. Sprint agreed to waive certain management
fees that they would otherwise be entitled to under the affiliate agreement as a result of our commitment to buy
nTelos, upgrade its network and support the former nTelos and Sprint customers. The fees waived will be recognized
on a straight line basis over the remainder of the initial term of the contract through 2029 and, as a result, we recorded
an adjustment of $3.0 million in the second quarter.

Other operating revenues

The increases in equipment revenue and other revenue also resulted primarily from the nTelos acquisition, with the
increase in other revenue primarily representing regulatory recovery revenues recognized by nTelos, whereas
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historically Sprint has recognized such revenues billed to customers in our service area.
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Cost of goods and services

Cost of goods and services increased $19.3 million, or 121.6%, in 2016 from the second quarter of 2015. The increase
results from the growth in device subsidies of $3.6 million, new national handsets settled separately under the affiliate
agreement of $2.0 million, increases in cell site rent and backhaul cost for incremental 868 cell sites in the nTelos
territory of $10.6 million, as well as the related growth in the cost of network technicians to service and maintain these
sites of $2.8 million. Cost of goods and services also included $0.3 million of costs to support nTelos legacy billing
operations until customers migrate to Sprint’s back-office systems.

Selling, general and administrative

Selling, general and administrative costs increased $14.1 million, or 158.0%, in the second quarter of 2016 from the
comparable 2015 period. This increase included $5.2 million of separately settled national channel commissions; $2.4
million from the operating costs of incremental stores acquired as a result of the nTelos acquisition; $1.0 million in
incremental sales and marketing efforts to communicate with the new customers and begin efforts to migrate the
nTelos legacy customers over to the Sprint platforms; and $1.8 million in other administrative costs related to the
acquired operations. Costs associated with prepaid wireless offerings increased $1.1 million. Selling, general and
administrative costs also included $2.0 million of costs to support nTelos legacy billing operations until customers
migrate to Sprint’s back-office systems.

Integration and acquisition
Integration and acquisition expenses of $5.3 million in the second quarter of 2016 include approximately $4 million
for replacement handsets issued to former nTelos subscribers migrated to the Sprint billing platform and $1.3 million
in other expenses.
Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization increased $14.9 million, or 172.8%, in the second quarter of 2016 over the comparable
2015 period, due primarily to $6.1 million in depreciation on the acquired fixed assets and $6.8 million in
amortization of customer based intangibles recorded in the acquisition. Customer based intangibles are being

amortized over accelerated lives.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 Compared with the Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

Six Months Ended Change
(in thousands) June 30,

2016 2015 $ %
Segment operating revenues
Wireless service revenue $139,052 $97,124 $41,928 43.2
Tower lease revenue 5,562 5,162 400 7.7
Equipment revenue 4,231 2,767 1,464 52.9
Other revenue 1,967 158 1,809 NA
Total segment operating revenues 150,812 105,211 45,601 43.3
Segment operating expenses
Cost of goods and services, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
shown separately below 51,815 32,090 19,725 61.4
Selling, general and administrative, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization shown separately below 34,524 17,969 16,555 92.1
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Integration and acquisition expenses
Depreciation and amortization

Total segment operating expenses
Segment operating income

5,276 - 5,276 NM

31,988 16,444 15,544 945

123,603 66,503 57,100 85.9
$27,209 $38,708 $(11,499) (29.7)

32

Table of Contents

73



Edgar Filing: CAPITAL SENIOR LIVING CORP - Form 424B5

Index
Service Revenues

Wireless service revenue increased $41.9 million, or 43.2%, for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to the
comparable 2015 period. See table below.

(in thousands) Six Months Ended

June 30, Change
Service Revenues 2016 2015 $ %
Postpaid net billings $120,857 $93,479 $27,378 29.3
Sprint fees
Management fee (9,995 ) (7,437 ) (2,558) 344
Net Service fee (9,241 ) (13,015) 3,774 (29.0)
Waiver of management fee 5,129 - 5,129 NM
(14,107 ) (20,452) 6,345 (31.0)
Prepaid net billings
Gross billings 33,587 25,494 8,093 31.7
Sprint management fee (2,003 ) (1,539 ) (464 ) NM
Waiver of management fee 966 - 966 NM
32,550 23,955 8,595 359
Travel and other revenues 6,088 142 5,946 NM
Accounting adjustments
Amortization of expanded affiliate agreement (3,290 ) - (3,290 ) NM
Straight-line adjustment - management fee waiver (3,046 ) - (3,046 ) NM
(6,336 ) - (6,336 ) NM
Total Service Revenues $139,052 $97,124 $41,928 43.2

Operating revenues

Effective May 6, 2016, we acquired approximately 404,000 postpaid and 155,000 prepaid subscribers through our
acquisition of nTelos. This acquisition and other changes to the postpaid customer gross additions and churn, outlined
in the tables above, resulted in an increase of $27.4 million or 29.3% in postpaid net billings. Effective January 1,
2016, the fees retained by Sprint, and deducted from postpaid revenues, decreased from 22% to 16.6% and they
agreed to settle certain revenue and expense items separately. As a result, Sprint fees dropped by $7.3 million or
35.7%. Travel revenues, which are now settled separately, and other similarly settled items grew by $5.9 million.
Prepaid net billings grew by $8.1 million or 31.7% as a result of the growth in the customer base related to the nTelos
acquisition and other changes in gross additions and churn outlined in the tables above.

We recorded an asset related to the changes to the Sprint affiliate agreement as described in the nTelos acquisition
footnote above. That asset is being amortized through the expiration of the initial term of that contract in 2029 and, as
a result, we recorded $3.3 million in amortization in the six months ended June 30, 2016. Sprint agreed to waive
certain management fees that they would otherwise be entitled to under the affiliate agreement as a result of our
commitment to buy nTelos, upgrade its network and support the former nTelos and Sprint customers. The fees
waived will be recognized on a straight line basis over the remainder of the initial term of the contract through 2029
and, as a result, we recorded an adjustment of $3.0 million in the six months ended June 30, 2016.

Other operating revenues

The increases in equipment revenue and other revenue also resulted primarily from the nTelos acquisition, with the
increase in other revenue primarily representing regulatory recovery revenues recognized by nTelos, whereas
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historically Sprint has recognized such revenues billed to customers in our service area.
Cost of goods and services

Cost of goods and services increased $19.7 million, or 61.4%, in 2016 from the first half of 2015. The increase results
from the growth in device subsidies of $1.9 million, new national handsets settled separately under the affiliate
agreement of $3.1 million, increases in cell site rent and backhaul cost for incremental 868 cell sites in the nTelos
territory of $11.1 million, as well as the related growth in the cost of network technicians to service and maintain these
sites of $3.2 million. Cost of goods and services also included $0.3 million of costs to support nTelos legacy billing
operations until customers migrate to Sprint’s back-office systems.
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Selling, general and administrative

Selling, general and administrative costs increased $16.6 million, or 92.1%, in the six months ended June 30, 2016
from the comparable 2015 period. This increase included $7.6 million of separately settled national channel
commissions; $2.4 million from the operating costs of incremental stores acquired as a result of the nTelos
acquisition; $1.0 million in incremental sales and marketing efforts to communicate with the new customers and begin
efforts to migrate the nTelos legacy customers over to the Sprint platforms; and $1.8 million in other administrative
costs related to the acquired operations. Costs associated with prepaid wireless offerings increased $0.7 million.
Selling, general and administrative costs also included $2.0 million of costs to support nTelos legacy billing
operations until customers migrate to Sprint’s back-office systems.

Integration and acquisition
Integration and acquisition expenses of $5.3 million in the six months ended June 30, 2016, include approximately $4
million for replacement handsets issued to former nTelos subscribers migrated to the Sprint billing platform and $1.3

million in other expenses.

Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization increased $15.5 million, or 94.5%, in the six months ended June 30, 2016 over the
comparable 2015 period, due primarily to $6.1 million in depreciation on the acquired fixed assets and $6.8 million in
amortization of customer based intangibles recorded in the acquisition. Customer based intangibles are being

amortized over accelerated lives.
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Cable

The Cable segment provides video, internet and voice services in franchise areas in portions of Virginia, West
Virginia and western Maryland, and leases fiber optic facilities throughout its service area. It does not include video,
internet and voice services provided to customers in Shenandoah County, Virginia.

On January 1, 2016, we acquired the assets of Colane Cable Company. With the acquisition, we received 3,299 video
customers, 1,405 high-speed internet customers, and 302 voice customers. These customers are included in the June

30, 2016 totals shown below.

June 30, December 31,  June 30, December 31,

2016 2015 2015 2014
Homes Passed (1) 184,627 172,538 172,144 171,589
Customer Relationships (2)
Video customers 49,241 48,184 48,659 49,247
Non-video customers 27,230 24,550 22,810 22,051
Total customer relationships 76,471 72,734 71,469 71,298
Video
Customers (3) 51,549 50,215 50,892 52,095
Penetration (4) 279 % 29.1 % 296 % 304 %
Digital video penetration (5) 753 % 719 % 738 % 659 %
High-speed Internet
Available Homes (6) 183,743 172,538 172,144 171,589
Customers (3) 58,230 55,131 52,415 50,686
Penetration (4) 31.7 % 320 % 304 % 29.5 %
Voice
Available Homes (6) 181,006 169,801 169,407 168,852
Customers (3) 21,092 20,166 19,401 18,262
Penetration (4) 117 % 119 % 11.5 % 10.8 %
Total Revenue Generating Units (7) 130,871 125,512 122,708 121,043
Fiber Route Miles 2,962 2,844 2,839 2,834
Total Fiber Miles (8) 81,305 76,949 73,735 72,694
Average Revenue Generating Units 131,385 124,054 123,159 117,744

Homes and businesses are considered passed (“homes passed”) if we can connect them to our distribution system
1) without further extending the transmission lines. Homes passed is an estimate based upon the best available
information.

2)Customer relationships represent the number of customers who receive at least one of our services.
Generally, a dwelling or commercial unit with one or more television sets connected to our distribution system
counts as one video customer. Where services are provided on a bulk basis, such as to hotels and some
multi-dwelling units, the revenue charged to the customer is divided by the rate for comparable service in the local
market to determine the number of customer equivalents included in the customer counts shown above. During the
first quarter of 2016, we modified the way we count subscribers when a commercial customer upgrades its internet
service via a fiber contract. We retroactively applied the new count methodology to prior periods, and applied
similar logic to certain bulk customers; the net result was reductions in internet subscriber counts of 559, 682 and
673 subscribers to December 31, 2015, June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 totals, respectively.
1) Penetratiop is calculated by dividing the number of customers by the number of homes passed or available homes,
as appropriate.
5)Digital video penetration is calculated by dividing the number of digital video customers by total video customers.
Digital video customers are video customers who receive any level of video service via digital transmission. A
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dwelling with one or more digital set-top boxes or digital adapters counts as one digital video customer.
Homes and businesses are considered available (‘“available homes”) if we can connect them to our distribution system
without further extending the transmission lines and if we offer the service in that area.
7)Revenue generating units are the sum of video, voice and high-speed internet customers.
Fiber miles are measured by taking the number of fiber strands in a cable and multiplying that number by
the route distance. For example, a 10 mile route with 144 fiber strands would equal 1,440 fiber miles.

6)
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2016 Compared with the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015

(in thousands)

Segment operating revenues

Service revenue

Other revenue

Total segment operating revenues

Segment operating expenses

Cost of goods and services, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
shown separately below

Selling, general, and administrative, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization shown separately below

Depreciation and amortization

Total segment operating expenses

Segment operating income (loss)

Operating revenues

Three Months Ended

June 30,

2016 2015

$24,167 $22,117
2,234 2,036
26,401 24,153
14,564 13,635
4,794 5,084
5,879 5,859
25,237 24,578

$1,164 $ (425

Change
$

$2,050
198
2,248

929

(290 )
20
659

) $1,589

%

9.3
9.7
9.3

6.8

(5.7 )
0.3

2.7
373.9

Cable segment service revenues increased $2.1 million, or 9.3%, due to a 6.7% increase in average revenue generating
units, video rate increases in January 2016 to offset increases in programming costs, customers selecting higher-speed
data (HSD) access packages and growth in the HSD and phone customers.

Other revenue grew $0.2 million, primarily due to new fiber contracts to towers, schools and libraries.

Operating expenses

Cable segment cost of goods and services increased $0.9 million, or 6.8%, in the second quarter of 2016 over the
comparable 2015 period. Video programming costs, including retransmission fees, increased $0.4 million, primarily
due to the increase in subscribers. The remainder of the increase resulted from higher network and maintenance costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $0.3 million against the prior year quarter due to lower
advertising and commission costs, down $0.4 million.

36

Table of Contents

79



Edgar Filing: CAPITAL SENIOR LIVING CORP - Form 424B5

Index
Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 Compared with the Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

Six Months Ended
. June 30 Change

(in thousands) ’

2016 2015 $ %
Segment operating revenues
Service revenue $48,507 $43,518 $4,989 11.5
Other revenue 4,340 3,947 393 10.0
Total segment operating revenues 52,847 47465 5,382 11.3
Segment operating expenses
Cost of goods and services, exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown
separately below 29,210 27,253 1,957 7.2
Selling, general and administrative, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
shown separately below 9,902 9,976 74 ) 0.7 )
Depreciation and amortization 11,974 11,338 636 5.6
Total segment operating expenses 51,086 48,567 2,519 5.2
Segment operating income (loss) $1,761 $(1,102) $2,863 259.8

Operating revenues

Cable segment service revenues increased $5.0 million, or 11.5%, due to a 6.4% increase in average revenue
generating units, video rate increases in January 2016 to offset increases in programming costs, customers selecting
higher-speed data (HSD) access packages and growth in the HSD and phone customers.

Other revenue grew $0.4 million, primarily due to new fiber contracts to towers, schools and libraries.
Operating expenses

Cable segment cost of goods and services increased $2.0 million, or 7.2%, in the six months ended June 30, 2016 over
the comparable 2015 period. Video programming costs, including retransmission fees, increased $0.8 million,
primarily due to the increase in subscribers. The remainder of the increase resulted from higher network and

maintenance costs.

Wireline

The Wireline segment provides regulated and unregulated voice services, DSL internet access, and long distance
access services throughout Shenandoah County and portions of Rockingham, Frederick, Warren and Augusta
counties, Virginia. The segment also provides video and cable modem internet access services in portions of

Shenandoah County, and leases fiber optic facilities throughout the northern Shenandoah Valley of Virginia, northern
Virginia and adjacent areas along the Interstate 81 corridor through West Virginia, Maryland and portions of
Pennsylvania.

June 30, Dec.31, June30, Dec. 31,

2016 2015 2015 2014
Telephone Access Lines (1) 19,188 20,252 21,615 21,612
Long Distance Subscribers 9,269 9,476 9,560 9,571
Video Customers (2) 5,327 5,356 5,473 5,692
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DSL and Cable Modem Subscribers (3)

Fiber Route Miles
Total Fiber Miles (4)

14,122 13,890 12,856 13,094
1,752 1,736 1,590 1,556
126,639 123,891 102,821 99,387
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1y

customer have a telephone access line to purchase DSL service.

2)The Wireline segment’s video service passes approximately 16,000 homes.

June 2016 and December 2015 totals include 725 and 420 customers, respectively, served via the coaxial cable
network. During first quarter 2016, we modified the way we count subscribers when a commercial customer
3)upgrades its internet service via a fiber contract. We retroactively applied the new count methodology to prior

Effective October 1, 2015, we launched cable modem services on our cable plant, and ceased the requirement that a

periods and the net result was increases in internet subscriber counts of 804, 434 and 352 subscribers to December

31, 2015, June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 totals, respectively.

Fiber miles are measured by taking the number of fiber strands in a cable and multiplying that number by
4) the route distance. For example, a 10 mile route with 144 fiber strands would equal 1,440 fiber miles. Fiber
counts were revised following a review of fiber records in the first quarter of 2015.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2016 Compared with the Three Months Ended June 30, 2015

(in thousands)

Segment operating revenues
Service revenue

Carrier access and fiber revenues
Other revenue

Total segment operating revenues

Segment operating expenses

Cost of goods and services, exclusive of depreciation and amortization
shown separately below

Selling, general and administrative, exclusive of depreciation and
amortization shown separately below

Depreciation and amortization

Total segment operating expenses

Segment operating income

Operating revenues

Three Months Ended

June 30,

2016 2015

$5,381 $5,530
12,293 10,151
917 782
18,591 16,463
8,808 7,677
1,670 1,736
2,933 3,083
13,411 12,496

$5,180 $3,967

Change
$

$(149 )
2,142
135
2,128

1,131

(66 )

(150 )

915
$1,213

%

2.7)
21.1
17.3
12.9

14.7

(3.8)
4.9)
7.3
30.6

Total operating revenues in the quarter ended June 30, 2016 increased $2.1 million, or 12.9%, against the comparable
2015 period, as a result of increases in fiber and access contracts.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses overall increased $0.9 million, or 7.3%, in the quarter ended June 30, 2016, compared to the 2015
quarter. The $1.1 million increase in cost of goods and services primarily resulted from costs to support the increase in
carrier access and fiber revenues shown above.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 Compared with the Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

Six Months Ended Change

(in thousands) June 30,

2016 2015 $ %
Segment operating revenues
Service revenue $10,917 $10,824 $93 0.9
Carrier access and fiber revenue 24263 19,678 4,585 23.3
Other revenue 1,790 1,546 244 15.8
Total segment operating revenues 36,970 32,048 4,922 154

Segment operating expenses
Cost of goods and services, exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown

separately below 17,450 15,011 2,439 16.2
Selling, general and administrative, exclusive of depreciation and amortization

shown separately below 3,275 3,234 41 1.3
Depreciation and amortization 5,967 6,007 40 ) (0.7)
Total segment operating expenses 26,692 24252 2,440 10.1
Segment operating income $10,278 $7,796 $2,482 31.8

Operating revenues

Total operating revenues in the six months ended June 30, 2016 increased $4.9 million, or 15.4%, against the
comparable 2015 period. Carrier access and fiber revenues increased $4.6 million due to increases in fiber and access
contracts. The increase in service revenues primarily results from higher revenues for high-speed data services.

Operating expenses
Operating expenses overall increased $2.4 million, or 10.1%, in the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to the
2015 period. The $2.4 million increase in cost of goods and services primarily resulted from costs to support the

increase in carrier access and fiber revenues shown above.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measure

In managing our business and assessing our financial performance, management supplements the information
provided by financial statement measures prepared in accordance with GAAP with adjusted OIBDA and continuing
OIBDA, which are considered “non-GAAP financial measures” under SEC rules.

Adjusted OIBDA is defined by us as operating income (loss) before depreciation and amortization, adjusted to
exclude the effects of: certain non-recurring transactions; impairment of assets; gains and losses on asset sales;
straight-line adjustments for the waived management fee; amortization of the affiliate agreement expansion asset; and
share-based compensation expense. Adjusted OIBDA should not be construed as an alternative to operating income
as determined in accordance with GAAP as a measure of operating performance. Continuing OIBDA is defined by us
as adjusted OIBDA, less the benefit received from the waived management fee by Sprint over the next approximately

six—year period.

In a capital-intensive industry such as telecommunications, management believes that adjusted OIBDA and continuing
OIBDA and the associated percentage margin calculations are meaningful measures of our operating performance.
We use adjusted OIBDA and continuing OIBDA as supplemental performance measures because management
believes they facilitate comparisons of our operating performance from period to period and comparisons of our
operating performance to that of other companies by excluding potential differences caused by the age and book
depreciation of fixed assets (affecting relative depreciation expenses) as well as the other items described above for
which additional adjustments were made. In the future, management expects that the Company may again report
adjusted OIBDA and continuing OIBDA excluding these items and may incur expenses similar to these excluded
items. Accordingly, the exclusion of these and other similar items from our non-GAAP presentation should not be
interpreted as implying these items are non-recurring, infrequent or unusual.

While depreciation and amortization are considered operating costs under generally accepted accounting principles,
these expenses primarily represent the current period allocation of costs associated with long-lived assets acquired or
constructed in prior periods, and accordingly may obscure underlying operating trends for some purposes. By
isolating the effects of these expenses and other items that vary from period to period without any correlation to our
underlying performance, or that vary widely among similar companies, management believes adjusted OIBDA and
continuing OIBDA facilitates internal comparisons of our historical operating performance, which are used by
management for business planning purposes, and also facilitates comparisons of our performance relative to that of
our competitors. In addition, we believe that adjusted OIBDA and continuing OIBDA and similar measures are
widely used by investors and financial analysts as measures of our financial performance over time, and to compare
our financial performance with that of other companies in our industry.

Adjusted OIBDA and continuing OIBDA have limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. These limitations include the
following:

they do not reflect capital expenditures;
many of the assets being depreciated and amortized will have to be replaced in the future and adjusted OIBDA and
continuing OIBDA do not reflect cash requirements for such replacements;
they do not reflect costs associated with share-based awards exchanged for employee services;
they do not reflect interest expense necessary to service interest or principal payments on indebtedness;
they do not reflect gains, losses or dividends on investments;
they do not reflect expenses incurred for the payment of income taxes; and
other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate adjusted OIBDA and continuing OIBDA
differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.
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In light of these limitations, management considers adjusted OIBDA and continuing OIBDA as a financial
performance measure that supplements but does not replace the information reflected in our GAAP results.
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The following table shows adjusted OIBDA and continuing OIBDA for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016
and 2015.

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
(in thousands) 2016 2015 2016 2015
Adjusted OIBDA  $55,905 $37,641 $96,271 $73,960
Continuing OIBDA $49,810 $37,641 $90,176 $73,960

The following table reconciles adjusted OIBDA and continuing OIBDA to operating income (loss), which we
consider to be the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, for the three and six months ended June 30,

2016 and 2015:

Consolidated: Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

(in thousands) 2016 2015 2016 2015
Operating income (loss) $(6,150 ) $18,750 $15,163 $37,276
Plus depreciation and amortization 32,415 17,663 50,154 34,001
Plus (gain) loss on asset sales (48 ) 218 63 ) 229
Plus share based compensation expense 959 608 1,956 1,430
Plus straight line adjustment to reduce management fee waiver 3,046 - 3,046 -
Plus amortization of intangible netted in revenue 3,290 - 3,290 -
Plus temporary backoffice costs to support the billing operations through
migration 2,339 - 2,339 -
Plus integration and acquisition related expenses 20,054 402 20,386 1,024
Adjusted OIBDA $55905 $37,641 $96,271 $73,960
Less waived management fee (6,095 ) - (6,095) -
Continuing OIBDA $49.810 $37,641 $90,176 $73,960

The following tables reconcile adjusted OIBDA and continuing OIBDA to operating income by major segment for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015:

Wireless Segment: Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

(in thousands) 2016 2015 2016 2015

Operating income $7,277 $19,270 $27,209 $38,708

Plus depreciation and amortization 23,495 8,612 31,988 16,444

Plus (gain) loss on asset sales (53 ) 8 39 ) 33

Plus share based compensation expense 311 143 624 334

Plus straight line adjustment to reduce management fee waiver 3,046 - 3,046 -

Plus amortization of intangible netted in revenue 3,290 - 3,290 -

Plus temporary backoffice costs to support the billing operations through

migration 2,339 - 2,339 -

Plus integration and acquisition related expenses 5,276 - 5,276 -

Adjusted OIBDA $44981 $28,033 $73,733 $55,519

Less waived management fee (6,095 ) - (6,095) -

Continuing OIBDA $38,886 $28,033 $67,638 $55,519
41
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Cable Segment: Three Months Ended  Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
(in thousands) 2016 2015 2016 2015
Operating income (loss) $1,164 $@425 ) $1,761 $(1,102)
Plus depreciation and amortization 5,879 5,859 11,974 11,338
Plus (gain) loss on asset sales (20 ) 65 34 ) 52
Plus share based compensation expense 294 217 602 504
Adjusted OIBDA and Continuing OIBDA $ 7,317 $5,716 $14,303 $10,792
Wireline Segment: Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
(in thousands) 2016 2015 2016 2015
Operating income $ 5,180 $3,967 $10,278 $7,796
Plus depreciation and amortization 2,933 3,083 5,967 6,007
Plus loss on asset sales 40 125 40 134
Plus share based compensation expense 136 106 284 246
Adjusted OIBDA and Continuing OIBDA $ 8,289 $7,281 $16,569 $14,183

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have four principal sources of funds available to meet the financing needs of its operations, capital projects, debt
service, investments and potential dividends. These sources include cash flows from operations, existing balances of
cash and cash equivalents, the liquidation of investments and borrowings. Management routinely considers the
alternatives available to determine what mix of sources are best suited for the long-term benefit of the Company.

Sources and Uses of Cash. We generated $60.8 million of net cash from operations in the first six months of 2016,
compared to $60.3 million in the first six months of 2015. The increase was driven primarily by lower net income and
by the timing of cash receipts and disbursements for taxes and materials and supplies.

Indebtedness. As of June 30, 2016, our indebtedness totaled $815.6 million. This included $815.2 million in term
loans, with an annualized effective interest rate of approximately 3.86% after considering the impact of the interest
rate swap contract and unamortized loan costs. The balance consists of the $485 million Term Loan A-1 at a variable
rate (3.21% as of June 30, 2016) that resets monthly based on one month LIBOR plus a margin of 2.75% currently,
and the $350 million Term Loan A-2 at a variable rate (3.46% as of June 30, 2016) that resets monthly based on one
month LIBOR plus a margin of 3.00%. The Term Loan A-1 requires quarterly principal repayments of $6.1 million
beginning September 30, 2016 and continuing through June 30, 2017, increasing to $12.1 quarterly thereafter through
June 30, 2021, with the remaining expected balance of approximately $242.5 million due September 30, 2021. The
Term Loan A-2 requires quarterly principal repayments of $10.0 million beginning on September 30, 2018 through
March 31, 2023, with the remaining expected balance of approximately $210.0 million due June 30, 2023.

We are bound by certain financial covenants under the 2016 credit agreement. Noncompliance with any one or more
of the debt covenants may have an adverse effect on our financial condition or liquidity in the event such
noncompliance cannot be cured or should we be unable to obtain a waiver from the lenders. As of June 30, 2016, we
were in compliance with all debt covenants, and ratios at June 30, 2016 were as follows:

Covenant Requirement at
Actual June 30, 2016
2.93 3.75 or Lower
3.72  2.00 or Higher

Total Leverage Ratio
Debt Service Coverage Ratio
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In accordance with the Credit Agreement, the total leverage and debt service coverage ratios noted above are based on
estimates of consolidated EBITDA, cash taxes, scheduled principal payments and cash interest expense as if the
nTelos acquisition had occurred on April 1, 2016, multiplied by 4. In addition to the covenants above, we are required
to supply the lenders with quarterly financial statements and other reports as defined by the 2016 credit agreement.
We were in compliance with all reporting requirements at June 30, 2016.
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We had no off-balance sheet arrangements (other than operating leases) and have not entered into any transactions
involving unconsolidated, limited purpose entities or commodity contracts.

Capital Commitments. Capital expenditures budgeted for 2016 total $218.5 million, including $120.3 million in the
Wireless segment for upgrades and expansion of the nTelos wireless network. In addition, $21.2 million is budgeted
for information technology upgrades, new and renovated buildings and other projects, $24.2 million for additional
network capacity, and $36.4 million for network expansion including new fiber routes, new cell towers, and cable
market expansion. Approximately $13.1 million of the budget is success-based, and will be scaled back if not
supported by customer growth.

For the first six months of 2016, we spent $60.1 million on capital projects, compared to $25.1 million in the
comparable 2015 period. Spending related to Wireless projects accounted for $49.1 million in the first six months of
2016, primarily for additional network capacity and technology upgrades. Cable capital spending of $5.7 million
related to network and cable market expansion. Wireline capital projects cost $4.0 million, driven primarily by fiber
builds. Other projects totaled $1.4 million, largely related to information technology projects.

We believe that cash on hand, cash flow from operations and borrowings expected to be available under our existing
credit facilities will provide sufficient cash to enable us to fund planned capital expenditures, make scheduled
principal and interest payments, meet our other cash requirements and maintain compliance with the terms of our
financing agreements for at least the next twelve months. Thereafter, capital expenditures will likely continue to be
required to continue planned capital upgrades to the acquired wireless network and provide increased capacity to meet
our expected growth in demand for our products and services. The actual amount and timing of our future capital
requirements may differ materially from our estimate depending on the demand for our products and new market
developments and opportunities.

Our cash flows from operations could be adversely affected by events outside our control, including, without
limitation, changes in overall economic conditions, regulatory requirements, changes in technologies, demand for our
products, availability of labor resources and capital, changes in our relationship with Sprint, and other conditions. The
Wireless segment’s operations are dependent upon Sprint’s ability to execute certain functions such as billing, customer
care, and collections; our ability to develop and implement successful marketing programs and new products and
services; and our ability to effectively and economically manage other operating activities under our agreements with
Sprint. Our ability to attract and maintain a sufficient customer base, particularly in the acquired cable markets, is
also critical to our ability to maintain a positive cash flow from operations. The foregoing events individually or
collectively could affect our results.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, which requires an entity
to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers. The ASU will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it becomes
effective. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, delaying the effective date of ASU 2014-09. As
amended, the new standard is effective for the Company on January 1, 2018, using either a retrospective basis or a
modified retrospective basis with early adoption permitted, but not earlier than the original effective date beginning
after December 15,2016 We are evaluating the effect that ASU 2014-09 will have on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures. We have not yet selected a transition method nor have we determined the effect of
the standard on our ongoing financial reporting.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases”, which requires the recognition of lease assets and lease

liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases under previous generally accepted accounting
principles. This change will result in an increase to recorded assets and liabilities on lessees’ financial statements, as
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well as changes in the categorization of rental costs, from rent expense to interest and depreciation expense. Other
effects may occur depending on the types of leases and the specific terms of them utilized by particular lessees. The
ASU is effective for us on January 1, 2019, and early application is permitted. Modified retrospective application is
required. We are evaluating the effect that ASU 2016-02 will have on our consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company’s market risks relate primarily to changes in interest rates on instruments held for other than trading
purposes. The Company’s interest rate risk generally involves two components. The first component is outstanding
debt with variable rates. As of June 30, 2016, the Company had $835 million of variable rate debt outstanding
(excluding unamortized loan fees and costs of $19.4 million), bearing interest at a weighted average rate of 3.31% as
determined on a monthly basis. An increase in market interest rates of 1.00% would add approximately $8.3 million to
annual interest expense, excluding the effect of the interest rate swap. In May 2016, the Company entered into a
pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap with three counterparties totaling $256.6 of notional principal. These
swaps, combined with the swap purchased in 2012, cover notional principal equal to approximately 50% of the
outstanding variable rate debt through maturity in 2023. The Company is required to pay a combined fixed rate of
approximately 1.16% and receive a variable rate based on one month LIBOR (0.46% as of June 30, 2016), to manage
a portion of its interest rate risk. Changes in the net interest paid or received under the swaps would offset
approximately 50% of the change in interest expense on the variable rate debt outstanding. The swap agreements
currently add approximately $2.1 million to annual interest expense, based on the spread between the fixed rate and
the variable rate currently in effect on our debt.

The second component of interest rate risk is marked increases in interest rates that may adversely affect the rate at
which the Company may borrow funds for growth in the future. If the Company should borrow additional funds
under any Incremental Term Loan Facility to fund its capital investment needs, repayment provisions would be agreed
to at the time of each draw under the Incremental Term Loan Facility. If the interest rate margin on any draw exceeds
by more than 0.25% the applicable interest rate margin on the Term Loan Facility, the applicable interest rate margin
on the Term Loan Facility shall be increased to equal the interest rate margin on the Incremental Term Loan Facility.
If interest rates increase generally, or if the rate applied under the Company’s Incremental Term Loan Facility causes
the Company’s outstanding debt to be repriced, the Company’s future interest costs could increase.

Management views market risk as having a potentially significant impact on the Company's results of operations, as
future results could be adversely affected if interest rates were to increase significantly for an extended period, or if
the Company’s need for additional external financing resulted in increases to the interest rates applied to all of its new
and existing debt. As of June 30, 2016, the Company has $417.5 million of variable rate debt with no interest rate
protection. The Company’s investments in publicly traded stock and bond mutual funds under the rabbi trust, which
are subject to market risks and could experience significant swings in market values, are offset by corresponding
changes in the liabilities owed to participants in the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. General economic
conditions affected by regulatory changes, competition or other external influences may pose a higher risk to the
Company’s overall results.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management, with the participation of our President and Chief Executive Officer, who is the principal executive
officer, and the Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer, who is the principal financial officer, conducted
an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined by Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934. Based on this evaluation, the Company's principal executive officer and its principal financial officer
concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2016.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The acquisition of nTelos was completed on May 6, 2016, and had a material impact on the financial position, results
of operations and cash flows of the Company from the date of acquisition. Management is integrating the acquired
operation into its business processes and control structures as quickly as possible, although it is certain that the
integration of customers and back office operations will not be completed until sometime during 2017. As a result of
the acquisition, and the ongoing impact to the business, management has elected to exclude the legacy systems of
nTelos from our 2016 assessment of internal controls over financial reporting.

Other Matters Relating to Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Under the Company’s agreements with Sprint, Sprint provides the Company with billing, collections, customer care,
certain network operations and other back-office services for the PCS operation. As a result, Sprint remits to the
Company a substantial portion of the Company’s total operating revenues, which will increase as legacy nTelos
subscribers migrate to the Sprint billing platform in the future. Due to this relationship, the Company necessarily
relies on Sprint to provide accurate, timely and sufficient data and information to properly record the Company’s
revenues and accounts receivable, which underlie a substantial portion of the Company’s periodic financial statements
and other financial disclosures.

Information provided by Sprint includes reports regarding the subscriber accounts receivable in the Company’s
markets. Sprint provides the Company with monthly accounts receivable, billing and cash receipts information on a
market level, rather than a subscriber level. The Company reviews these various reports to identify discrepancies or
errors. Under the Company’s agreements with Sprint, the Company is entitled to only a portion of the receipts, net of
items such as taxes, government surcharges, certain allocable write-offs and the 16.6% of revenue currently retained

by Sprint (before the effect of fee waivers). Because of the Company’s reliance on Sprint for financial information, the
Company must depend on Sprint to design adequate internal controls with respect to the processes established to
provide this data and information to the Company and Sprint’s other Sprint PCS affiliate network partners. To address
this issue, Sprint engages an independent registered public accounting firm to perform a periodic evaluation of these
controls and to provide a “Report on Controls Placed in Operation and Tests of Operating Effectiveness” under guidance
provided in Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements No. 16 (“SSAE 16”). The report is provided to the
Company on an annual basis and covers a nine-month period. The most recent report covered the period from January
1, 2015 to September 30, 2015. The most recent report indicated there were no material issues which would adversely
affect the information used to support the recording of the revenues provided by Sprint related to the Company’s
relationship with them.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

We discuss in our Annual Report on Form 10-K various risks that may materially affect our business. We use this
section to update this discussion to reflect material developments since our Form 10-K was filed.

In connection with the nTelos acquisition, we incurred significant additional indebtedness, which could materially and
adversely affect us, including by decreasing our business flexibility.

We have substantially increased indebtedness following completion of the nTelos acquisition in comparison to that of
the Company on a recent historical basis, which has increased our interest expense and amortization requirements and
could have the effect, among other things, of reducing our flexibility to respond to changing business and economic
conditions. The amount of cash required to pay interest on our increased indebtedness and the increased amortization
requirements to pay down the loan balances following the nTelos acquisition, and thus the demands on our cash
resources, could be greater than the amount of cash flows required to service our indebtedness prior to the nTelos
acquisition. Our increased levels of indebtedness could also reduce funds available for working capital, capital
expenditures, dividends and other general corporate purposes and may create competitive disadvantages for us relative
to other companies with lower debt levels. If we do not achieve the expected benefits and cost savings from the
nTelos acquisition, or if the financial performance of the combined company does not meet current expectations, then
our ability to service this indebtedness may be materially and adversely impacted.

It may be difficult to successfully integrate the business of nTelos and we may fail to realize the anticipated benefits
expected from the nTelos acquisition, which could materially and adversely affect our operating results and the market
price of our common stock.

If we experience greater than anticipated costs to integrate nTelos into our existing operations or are not able to
achieve the anticipated benefits of the nTelos acquisition, our business and results of operations could be materially
and negatively affected. In addition, it is possible that the ongoing integration process could result in the disruption of
our ongoing business or inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies that adversely affect our ability
to maintain relationships with customers and employees or to achieve the anticipated benefits of the nTelos
acquisition. Integration efforts also may divert management attention and resources.

The success of the nTelos acquisition will also depend, in significant part, on our ability to successfully integrate the
acquired business and realize the synergies anticipated with the nTelos acquisition. Many of these synergies are not
expected to occur for a period of time and will require capital expenditures to be fully realized. If we are unable to
integrate nTelos successfully, we may not realize the anticipated benefits of the nTelos acquisition, including the
anticipated synergies.

ITEM 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The Company maintains a dividend reinvestment plan (the “DRIP”) for the benefit of its shareholders. When
shareholders remove shares from the DRIP, the Company issues a certificate for whole shares, pays out cash for any
fractional shares, and cancels the fractional shares purchased. In conjunction with exercises of stock options and
distributions of vested share awards, the Company periodically repurchases shares from recipients to satisfy some of
the exercise price of the options being exercised or taxes payable associated with the distribution of shares. The
following table provides information about the Company’s repurchases of shares during the three months ended June
30, 2016:

Number of Shares Average Price
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Purchased Paid per Share
April 1 to April 30 - -
May 1 to May 31 8,672 $ 29.00
June 1 to June 30 6,449 $ 33.25
Total 15,121 $ 30.81

On May 6, 2016, in connection with the closing of the nTelos acquisition, the Company issued 380,000 shares of its
common stock as consideration for the acquisition of the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary of nTelos. Such
shares were valued at $10.4 million. The sale of these securities was exempt from registration pursuant to Section
4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, based upon representations made to us by the equity holders in

purchase agreements we entered into with each equity holder.
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ITEM 6. Exhibits

(a) The following exhibits are filed with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q:

33

31.1

32

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Shenandoah Telecommunications
Company, effective July 18, 2016, filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company
Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 18, 2016.

Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule
13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Certification of Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Certifications pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. § 1350.

(101)Formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language)

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CALXBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

SHENANDOAH TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMPANY
(Registrant)

[s/Adele M. Skolits

Adele M. Skolits

Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer
Date: August 8, 2016

48

Table of Contents 96



Exhibit
0.

Exhibit

Edgar Filing: CAPITAL SENIOR LIVING CORP - Form 424B5

Index
EXHIBIT INDEX

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Shenandoah Telecommunications Company, effective July 18, 2016,

33 filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 18, 2016.

Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities
31.1

Exchange Act of 1934.

Certification of Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the
31.2 ..

Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
32 Certifications pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. 1350.

(101)  Formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language)

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CALXBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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